Why Maintaining Tropical Forests Is Essential and Urgent for a Stable Climate Rosa C. Goodman and Martin Herold

Abstract

Tropical forests have the highest carbon density and cover more land area than forests in any other biome. They also serve a vital role as a natural buffer to climate change -capturing 2.2-2.7 Gt of carbon per year. Unfortunately, tropical forests, mangroves, and peatlands are also subjected to the highest levels of deforestation and account for nearly all net emissions from Forestry and Other Land Use (FOLU) (1.1-1.4 Gt C / year). Net emissions from FOLU accounted for only 11% of total anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions or 14% of total carbon emissions in 2010, though these figures are somewhat misleading and do not reflect the full potential of tropical forests to mitigate climate change. First, net FOLU emissions have reduced only slightly while emissions from all other sectors have skyrocketed. Secondly, the FOLU net flux is made up of two larger fluxes ---deforestation emissions (2.6-2.8 Gt C / year) minus sequestration from forest regrowth (1.2–1.7 Gt C / year). Additionally, intact tropical forests also appear to be capturing at least 1.0 Gt C/ year. Gross deforestation, therefore, accounts for over a quarter of all carbon emissions, and tropical forests have removed 22-26% of all anthropogenic carbon emissions in the 2000s. If deforestation were halted entirely, forests were allowed to regrow, and mature forests were left undisturbed, tropical forests alone could have captured 25-35% of all other anthropogenic carbon emissions. On the other hand, if climate change continues unabated, forests could turn from net sinks to net sources of carbon. Forestrelated activities are among the most economically feasible and cost-effective mitigation strategies, which are important for both short- and long-term mitigation strategies. Action is needed immediately to utilize these natural mitigation solutions, and we need coordinated and comprehensive forest-related policies for mitigation. An international mechanism such as REDD+ is essential to realize the great natural potential for tropical forests to stabilize the climate.

JEL Codes: Q23, Q54

Keywords: Climate change, Mitigation, Forests, REDD+.

CGD Climate and Forest Paper Series #11

Center ق Global Development www.cgdev.org Working Paper 385 November 2014

Why Maintaining Tropical Forests Is Essential and Urgent for a Stable Climate

Rosa C. Goodman Yale School of Forestry & Environmental Studies

Martin Herold Department of Environmental Science, Wageningen University, The Netherlands

The authors would like to thank Valerio Avitabile and Sarah Carter for providing original figures. We also thank Frances Seymour for her invaluable guidance in forming this paper and Frances Seymour, Jonah Busch, and the three anonymous reviewers for their important feedback and suggestions to improve the manuscript.

CGD is grateful for contributions from the Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation in support of this work.

Rosa C. Goodman and Martin Herold. 2014. "Why Maintaining Tropical Forests Is Essential and Urgent for a Stable Climate." CGD Working Paper 385. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development. http://www.cgdev.org/publication/why-maintaining-tropical-forests-essential-and-urgentstable-climate-working-paper-385

The Center for Global Development is an independent, nonprofit policy research organization dedicated to reducing global poverty and inequality and to making globalization work for the poor. Use and dissemination of this Working Paper is encouraged; however, reproduced copies may not be used for commercial purposes. Further usage is permitted under the terms of the Creative Commons License.

The views expressed in CGD Working Papers are those of the authors and should not be attributed to the board of directors or funders of the Center for Global Development.

Center for Global Development 2055 L Street, NW Fifth Floor Washington, DC 20036

> 202.416.4000 (f) 202.416.4050

> > www.cgdev.org

Contents

Executive Summary
1. Introduction
1.1 Relevance and importance to the development community
1.2 Relevance and importance for policy-makers
1.3 Summary of carbon emissions and reservoirs
2. What is the role of forests in the global carbon cycle?
2.1 The basics: photosynthesis and respiration
2.2 Global significance of forests in the global carbon cycle9
3. Why do we focus on tropical forests?
3.1 Significance of humid tropical forests11
3.2 Mature forests continue to sequester carbon15
3.3 Significance of wetland forests15
4. How do land use and land use changes affect carbon and other greenhouse gas emissions?
4.1 Deforestation and land use change16
4.2 What land uses are replacing forests, and what are the implications for emissions?
4.3 Degradation
4.4 Why is fire significant?
4.5 Forest regrowth
5. Relative significance of forest-based emissions in total emissions
5.1 How significant are emissions from tropical deforestation and degradation?23
5.2 How have the rates of tropical deforestation and forest degradation and associated emissions changed over the past 30 years?
5.3 Gross vs. net emissions and sinks25
5.4 Changes between the 4th and 5th IPCC Assessment Reports and since
6. Current and projected rates of emissions from deforestation and degradation 31
6.1 Current rates and hot spots for deforestation and forest-based emissions31
6.2 Projected rates of deforestation
7. Implications for action
7.1 To what extent is reducing forest-based emissions essential for preventing climate change?
7.3 Priority geographies for action
8. Conclusions and recommendations

Foreword

This paper is one of more than 20 analyses being produced under CGD's Initiative on Tropical Forests for Climate and Development. The purpose of the Initiative is to help mobilize substantial additional finance from high-income countries to conserve tropical forests as a means of reducing carbon emissions, and thus slowing climate change.

The analyses will feed into a book entitled *Why Forests? Why Now? The Science, Economics, and Politics of Tropical Forests and Climate Change.* Co-authored by senior fellow Frances Seymour and research fellow Jonah Busch, the book will show that tropical forests are essential for both climate stability and sustainable development, that now is the time for action on tropical forests, and that payment-for-performance finance for reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation (REDD+) represents a course of action with great potential for success.

Commissioned background papers also support the activities of a working group convened by CGD and co-chaired by Nancy Birdsall and Pedro Pablo Kuczynski to identify practical ways to accelerate performance-based finance for tropical forests in the lead up to UNFCCC COP21 in Paris in 2015.

This paper, "Why Maintaining Tropical Forests is Essential and Urgent for a Stable Climate" by Rosa C. Goodman and Martin Herold, was commissioned by CGD to summarize the state of the science of the relationship between forests and climate change. It is designed to assist the non-scientist to understand the role played by forests in the global carbon cycle and the significance of greenhouse gas emissions from tropical deforestation in particular. The paper provides answers to frequently asked questions, such as "Why focus on the tropics?" and "Why don't we just plant more trees?"

Frances Seymour Senior Fellow Center for Global Development

Jonah Busch Research Fellow Center for Global Development

Executive Summary

Forests, climate, climate change, and climate change mitigation are inextricably linked. Natural systems cycle enormous amounts of carbon and, if treated appropriately, could be utilized to remove anthropogenic emissions from the atmosphere. On land, annual carbon fluxes are dominated by forests, which could become either a large source of carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions or a substantial part of the mitigation solution, depending on how we treat them on an international level and manage them locally. Terrestrial ecosystems have played an important role in mitigating climate change thus far, removing over 4 gigatons of carbon (Gt C) from the atmosphere each year. Over two-thirds of this sink is due to tropical forests alone: mature and regrowing tropical forests are capturing 2.2–2.7 Gt C / year. Tropical forests have the highest carbon densities in the world and store over 470 Gt C.

Unfortunately, tropical forests are also subjected to the highest levels of deforestation and therefore account for nearly all net emissions from forestry and other land use (FOLU; 1.1–1.4 Gt C / year). Considerable amounts of carbon are released when forests are cleared and burnt, and yet more greenhouse gases are emitted from the subsequent land uses, such as agriculture. Draining, burning, and degrading peatlands is especially detrimental, releasing large quantities of CO_2 and other more powerful greenhouse gases. Industrial agriculture and commercial logging are the main drivers of deforestation and degradation in South America and Southeast Asia, the major hotspots for forest-related emissions.

The proportion of total emissions from net FOLU has gone down since the 1990s, making up only 11 % of total anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions (CO₂-equivalents) in 2010. However, this figure is somewhat misleading because (i) net FOLU emissions have reduced only slightly while emissions from all other sectors have skyrocketed in recent years, (ii) the net land flux (1.1–1.4 Gt C/ year) is made up of two separate, larger fluxes: deforestation emissions (2.6–2.8 Gt C / year) minus sequestration from forest regrowth (1.2–1.7 Gt C / year), and thus (iii) the proportion of total greenhouse gases nor the net flux reflect full role of tropical forests in the carbon cycle or the large potential for forests to mitigate climate change. If gross fluxes are considered separately, gross FOLU emissions account for over a quarter of all carbon emissions, and tropical forest regrowth captured 12–16 % of all anthropogenic carbon emissions during the 2000s. If sequestration in mature forests (~1.0 Gt C/ year) is included in the tropical forest sink, tropical forests have removed 22–26 % of all anthropogenic carbon emissions in the 2000s. Thus, if deforestation were halted entirely, forests were allowed to regrow, and mature forests were left undisturbed and continue to net carbon sinks,

tropical forests alone could capture over a quarter of all other anthropogenic carbon emissions (30–35 % compared to emissions levels in the early 2000s or 25–30 % compared to carbon emissions in 2010). Finally, very recent data shows that tropical deforestation may be increasing again.

Compared to other mitigation strategies, forest-related activities, especially reducing emissions from tropical deforestation, are among the most economically feasible and cost-effective options and the most viable strategy in the land sector. Reducing CO₂ emissions from forestry plays a relatively large role in reducing total CO₂ emissions in the short term and buys us time to develop other mitigation and adaptation strategies. Unlike experimental carbon dioxide removal technologies, trees (planted or left undisturbed) can and already do remove carbon from the atmosphere naturally, which is essential for meeting long-term climate targets.

Action is needed immediately, especially if we are to utilize this large and natural mitigation option. Delaying action only puts more pressure on drastic changes in the future, lessens our overall chances of avoiding dangerous climatic changes, and may eliminate many of the options available to use today (such as forestry). Forests themselves are threatened by climate change and could eventually turn from net sinks to sources of CO_2 if climate change continues unabated. For effective climate change mitigation, we need coordinated and comprehensive mitigation policies among regions and land management activities. Drivers of forest-related emissions and the mitigation potential of forestry activities vary by region, and interventions should be planned accordingly. Over the past decade, the reduction in deforestation in Brazil and rise in afforestation in China emphasize the potential for national policies to improve land management, reduce carbon emissions, and enhance sequestration. Many countries are already engaging in REDD+ (Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation), and it is important to keep this momentum going. An international mechanism such as REDD+ is needed to realize the great natural potential for tropical forests to stabilize the climate.

This report synthesizes a large number of technical publications to summarize the role of tropical forests in climate change mitigation and, thus, forms the scientific basis for the need to maintain and manage tropical forests wisely.

1. Introduction

1.1 Relevance and importance to the development community

Climate change is a huge and imminent threat to society, and people in developing countries may be the most vulnerable to its effects (Field et al. 2014). Tropical forests are vastly important for society: supplying timber and non-timber forest products, supporting local livelihoods, and providing valuable ecosystem services. These forests also play an important role in both land use change emissions and immediate climate change mitigation action. The mechanisms proposed to do so, such as REDD+ (Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation), will need to focus interventions on addressing the direct and indirect drivers of deforestation and degradation, which brings up many social, economic, and development issues. Funds can potentially be used to build synergies between forest conservation and poverty reduction (Wunder 2001), but 'safeguards' will need to be upheld to ensure that any climate change mitigation activities promote social and environmental benefits. This chapter, however, will focus on the scientific basis for the need to maintain and manage tropical forests. Our intention is to synthesize a vast number of technical publications into a concise and accessible report.

1.2 Relevance and importance for policy-makers

Mitigation is defined as 'a human intervention to reduce the sources or enhance the sinks of greenhouse gases' (Edenhofer et al. 2014). Forest-related interventions, especially reducing deforestation, are cost-effective and vitally important for immediate climate change mitigation action. Afforestation and forest restoration also safely sequester carbon from the atmosphere, which is a necessary component in achieving long-term climate goals. Forest related activities are economically viable (Stern 2006), moderately easy to implement, and immediately available to us to act on climate change mitigation (no new or risky technology) (Smith et al. 2014).

Meeting a target of limiting a mean global temperature rise to 2 °C over pre-industrial levels — a number agreed upon in the 2010 Cancun agreements— is technically possible, but the political will is lacking (UNEP 2013). This makes meeting emissions targets more difficult and puts us all at risk of the effects of catastrophic climate change. The United Nations Environment Programme warns that this slow and weak political resolve will be costly — causing countries to undertake more drastic, expensive, difficult, and risky routes to reduce emissions by 2020 (UNEP 2013). Later-action scenarios are more risky: delaying action results in (i) higher accumulation of greenhouse gases (GHGs) in the atmosphere, (ii) higher risk of overshooting GHG concentrations and global

temperature increases, (iii) greater near-term impacts of climate change, (iv) fewer options to mitigate climate change in the future (such as many forest-related options), and (v) greater dependence on achieving a net sink in greenhouse gases within a few decades (and the technologies required for negative emissions may have severe negative impacts) (UNEP 2013).

There is a large 'gap' between emissions reductions expected from current national pledges and commitments and the emissions reductions needed to meet climate targets, but forestry has a large potential to fill this gap. Implementing current pledges and commitments are estimated to lower emissions by only 3–7 Gt CO₂eq / year, leaving an 'emissions gap' in 2020 of 8–12 Gt CO₂eq / year for a 2 °C target (assuming least-cost scenarios) and 2–5 Gt CO₂eq / year more with a more strict 1.5 °C target that some groups of countries are calling for (UNEP 2013). International cooperative agreements, such as REDD+, are key in closing this 'emissions gap' (UNEP 2013). Of all international cooperative initiatives, reducing deforestation is estimated to have the highest maximum potential to reduce greenhouse gas emissions —up to 25 % or 4.3 Gt CO₂eq / year in 2020 (UNEP 2013).

Thus, given the severe negative consequences of delaying climate change mitigation action and the multiple benefits of conserving and maintaining forests effectively, it is sensible to act immediately to reduce tropical deforestation and enhance sequestration and to utilize the REDD+ mechanism to do so. Throughout this chapter, we will summarize the current science to make the case for the physical benefits of maintaining and managing tropical forests.

1.3 Summary of carbon emissions and reservoirs

Our current understanding of the historic carbon cycle accounts for both emissions into the atmosphere (sources) and removals from the atmosphere (sinks), though there is some uncertainty, especially regarding the land use flux and residual land sink. Before the industrial revolution, deforestation totaled 7.5–9 million km² worldwide (Ramankutty and Foley 1999, Goldewijk 2001) and released approximately 27 Gt C (Pongratz et al. 2009) (summarized in Ciais et al. 2013). Since then, net emissions from land use change (deforestation minus forest regrowth) have totaled 180 ± 80 Gt C, and emissions from fossil fuels combustion and cement production have totaled 375 ± 30 Gt C (Ciais et al. 2013). Thus, of the 555 ± 85 Gt C emitted by humans between 1750 and 2011, one third has been from net land-use change. Fortunately, only 240 \pm 10 Gt C have remained in the atmosphere because natural sinks in the global carbon cycle have removed over half of total emissions from the atmosphere. The oceans have stored an additional 155 ± 30 Gt C and the land, mostly forests, has gained 160 ± 90 Gt C (Figure 1). Excess carbon dioxide is dangerous both in the atmosphere, where it has a greenhouse effect and causes warming, and in the oceans, where it causes acidification. Of the three reservoirs, the terrestrial sink is the only safe reservoir for excess carbon, where it accumulates in plant tissues and eventually the soil.

It is also important to note the total carbon stored in each reservoir, which both put the global carbon cycle into perspective and have the potential to be released. The atmospheric reservoir has increased from 589 to 829 Gt C since the industrial revolution, thus reaching a carbon dioxide concentration of over 390 ppm by 2011. Living terrestrial vegetation stores 420–620 Gt C (more than half of this in tropical forests), and dead plant material in litter and soils holds 1,500–2,400 Gt C, not including wetlands (300 to 700 Gt C) or permafrost (~1,700 Gt C) (Ciais et al. 2013). Up to 1,575 Gt C remain stored in gas, coal, and oil. Oceans have by far the largest stores of carbon in the surface, intermediate, and deep sea, dissolved organic carbon, marine biota, and ocean floor sediments (>40,000 Gt C; Figure 1).



Figure 1. Diagram of cumulative carbon emissions and reservoirs. Note that net land use change emissions are gross emissions minus carbon captured by regenerating forests, and the land sink is additional sequestration. Units are in Gt C. Small circles represent changes (i.e., sinks) from 1750 to 2011 (anthropogenic emissions and natural sinks), and rectangles show current reservoirs (original +/changes since 1750). Explanation of reservoirs (right) are given in the figure. Data from Table 6.1 and Figure 6.1 in Ciais et al. (2013).

Box 1. Terms and units explained

C, CO₂, and CO₂eq

We often express carbon in terms of elemental carbon (C), but carbon dioxide (CO₂) is what we emit and what accumulates in the atmosphere. The two can be converted as follows:

1 unit C = 44.01/12.01 units CO₂, so 1 t C = 3.66 t CO₂.

Other greenhouse gases (GHGs) have different potencies in their ability to cause warming. Thus, they are often reported as 'CO₂ equivalents' (CO₂e or CO₂eq) as a simplified way to show their global warming potential relative to that of CO₂. For example, one tonne of nitrous oxide is 310 times more potent than one tonne CO₂ in the atmosphere. The CO₂-equivalents below are based on the 100-year global warming potentials from the IPCC Second Assessment Report (Schimel et al. 1996):

```
Carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>): 1
Methane (CH<sub>4</sub>): 21
Nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O): 310
Hydrochlorofluorocarbons (HCFCs): 90–1,500
Chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs): 3,800–8,100
Fluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons (PFCs): 6,500–9,200
Hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs): 140–11,700
Sulfur hexafluoride (SF6): 23,900
```

Basic units

Basic mass and area units are summarized below:

1 t (metric tonne) = 1000 kg (kilogram) = 1,000,000 g (gram) = 1 Mg (Megagram) 1 Gt (gigatonne) = 1 billion (10⁹) tonnes = 10^{15} g = 1 Pg (petagram) 1 ha (hectare) = 100 m × 100 m = 10,000 m² 1 km² (square kilometer) = 1000 m × 1000 m = 1,000,000 m² = 100 ha at fluxes

Gross vs. net fluxes

Gross fluxes are the total fluxes from, for example, deforestation or

photosynthesis, whereas *net* fluxes account for the opposing flux as well. For example, net land use change fluxes account for both emissions from deforestation and degradation and sequestration from regrowth. Likewise, net productivity accounts for photosynthesis and respiration.

Biomass, carbon, and biomass or carbon density

The carbon content in biomass can be estimated from biomass using mean conversion values. The IPCC's Good Practice Guidance for Land Use, Land-Use Change, and Forestry reports a conversion factor of half or just less than half in their 2003 and 2006 reports, respectively. Thus, the amount of carbon in living vegetation can be determined as follows:

tons biomass (dry mass) \times 0.5 = tons carbon (IPCC 2003) or tons biomass (dry mass) \times 0.47 = tons carbon (IPCC 2006)

Carbon or biomass *density* refers to stocks per unit area (usually hectares; ha). Most ground-based research measures carbon in a certain area, such as 1-ha plots. Thus, total stocks can be determined by multiplying the average density by total area.

Agriculture, forestry, [other] land use, and land use change

Land fluxes are determined by the combination of fluxes from agriculture, forestry, other land use, and land use change. Agriculture is often considered separately and some terms, and combinations of terms are often used interchangeably. Thus, FOLU (Forestry and Other Land Use) is a subset of AFOLU (Agriculture, Forestry, and Other Land Use). LULUCF (Land Use, Land Use Change, and Forestry) and FOLU are often used interchangeably, though this can create some confusion as to whether agricultural emissions are included or not. For the sake of clarity, we will use the term FOLU, which includes conversion of land to agriculture but not subsequent emissions from agricultural practices. Deforestation dominates the FOLU flux, but it also includes new forest growth (e.g. afforestation or reforestation), urban expansion, etc. Scientific literature also uses LULUC or LULCC (Land Use and Land Use Change or Land Use and Land Cover Change), where forestry is implied within these classifications.

2. What is the role of forests in the global carbon cycle?

2.1 The basics: photosynthesis and respiration

In basic terms, forests are made up of trees and other woody and herbaceous vegetation, and their tissues (biomass) are made of nearly half carbon when water is discounted. Thus, forests hold carbon 'stocks' in living and dead biomass. 'Fluxes' refer to changes over time —living trees capture and release carbon via photosynthesis and respiration; dead tissues decay and release carbon; and a fraction of this carbon eventually ends up in the soils (Figure 2).

Trees and other plants continuously cycle carbon via photosynthesis, growth, respiration, death, and decay. They use energy from the sun and water from the soil to convert CO_2 from the atmosphere into photosynthates (sugars), water, and oxygen (O_2) via the process of photosynthesis. These photosynthates are used directly for cellular respiration and root exudation or they are stored as more complex molecules as an energy store or for growth of the leaves, stem, or roots. The mass of trees is often referred to as 'biomass', meaning 'living mass', and is composed of just less than half carbon by dry mass. When this growth is directed towards woody tissues (i.e., stem, branches, and large roots), it is called biomass accumulation. As with all living creatures, trees and other plants also use energy for maintenance and thus release CO_2 via respiration. The process of respiration is the reverse of photosynthesis: water and oxygen are used to break down organic compounds into energy, water, and CO_2 . Plants photosynthesize when the conditions are right (i.e., when there is ample sunlight and moisture during the growing season), but they respire continually. Overall, photosynthesis generally exceeds respiration, making most terrestrial ecosystems net carbon sinks in a natural state.

Trees grow, but they also lose leaves and branches and eventually die. The leaves and small branches form the 'leaf litter' layer just above the soil surface, and larger branches and dead trees are called coarse woody debris (Figure 2). The dead plant material is decomposed by bacteria and fungi that consume much of the energy stored in the plant matter and therefore release CO₂ via respiration. Plant roots also die and decompose by the same process. Like every flow through the trophic levels, decomposition is an active process which releases most of the carbon stored in biomass, but some is retained. Ultimately, a small fraction of the carbon becomes soil organic matter, which is vastly important to support productive ecosystems – providing nutrients, water holding capacity, soil structure, and more. Peat is a special case of soil, consisting primarily of partially decomposed plant material that can build up to many meters in depth (Page, Rieley, and Banks 2011). Fire releases the carbon stored in biomass very quickly, though a small fraction of carbon remains in the ecosystem as incompletely burned ash and charcoal. Severe fires can even burn soil organic matter, releasing yet more carbon (Certini 2005), which is a particular problem in peatlands.

2.2 Global significance of forests in the global carbon cycle

Forests cover approximately 38.5 million km² (Pan et al. 2011) or 28 % of land surface (Hooke, Martín-Duque, and Pedraza 2012) and contain 77 % of all terrestrial above ground carbon (Houghton 2007). Total forest carbon stocks are estimated at 861 Gt C, which is 1.5 times more than all anthropogenic carbon emissions since the industrial revolution (555 Gt C) and over 3.5 times more than has accumulated in the atmosphere

thus far (240 Gt; Ciais et al. 2013). Of the total forest carbon stocks, 363 Gt C are held in living biomass, 116 Gt C are in litter and dead wood, and 383 Gt C are stored in the soil (Pan et al. 2011).

Natural systems dominate the global carbon cycle. Terrestrial vegetation alone cycles over 120 Gt of carbon each year, taking up approximately 123 Gt C and respiring 119 Gt C (Ciais et al. 2013; Figure 2). This is about 15 times more than anthropogenic emissions from burning fossil fuels and producing cement each year (~8 Gt C). On land, these fluxes are dominated by forests, and the significance of forests in the global carbon cycle is demonstrated by intra-annual variation (variation within a year). The visible the sawtooth effect in figures showing atmospheric carbon concentrations corresponds to the growing season in the northern hemisphere, where the most land and forests exist (Keeling 1960). During the northern hemisphere summer, photosynthesis exceeds respiration globally and atmospheric CO₂ declines, whereas during the northern hemisphere winter, respiration exceeds photosynthesis and atmospheric CO₂ increases.

Forests have also played, and continue to play, a huge role in slowing the rate of climate change thus far. Mature and regrowing forests have been sequestering over 4 Gt of carbon each year since the 1990s (Pan et al. 2011; Figure 2). Thus, because of forests, atmospheric concentrations of CO₂ are not rising as rapidly as would be predicted by simply adding anthropogenic emissions to current levels in the atmosphere. Oceans are also absorbing an additional 2.3 Gt of carbon each year (Ciais et al. 2013). This phenomenon has been called a 'loan from nature' and a 'buffer to climate change' (Phillips and Lewis 2014). Though forests emit and capture more carbon every year than human activities, the problem is that human emissions are one-directional —emitting carbon with no subsequent sequestration on a large scale. Forests don't just capture and cycle carbon: they have other vital interactions with the atmosphere, climate, hydrological cycle, and nutrient cycle, which is discussed in further detail in Brandon (2014).



Figure 2. Schematic diagram of the forest carbon cycle. Green arrows represent sequestration of carbon from the atmosphere to plants or from plant material to soil organic matter. Orange arrows represent the release of carbon via respiration or combustion (fire). Annual fluxes are average gross terrestrial fluxes (2000–2009), which are dominated by forests, as reported in Figure 6.1 of the IPCC AR5 Working Group 1 (Ciais et al. 2013). The subset of land use fluxes (far right) are values reported in Pan et al. (2011) from 2000 to 2007.

3. Why do we focus on tropical forests?

3.1 Significance of humid tropical forests

Tropical forests are the largest, most carbon dense, and most diverse forests on Earth. Unfortunately, the high levels of deforestation within the tropics account for nearly all net forest loss and GHG emissions from FOLU across the planet. Just over half of the world's remaining forests are found in the tropics (Pan et al. 2011). Tropical forests span 19.5 million km², 70 % of which (13.9 million km²) are considered to be 'intact' (Pan et al. 2011). In total, tropical forests store approximately 471 \pm 93 Gt C in live plants, soil, and necromass (dead plant material) (Pan et al. 2011). This number represents 55% of the global forest carbon stocks and is only 84 Gt C less than all anthropogenic emissions since the industrial revolution (555 Gt C) and nearly double what has accumulated in the atmosphere to date (240 Gt C; Ciais et al. 2013). Including regrowing forests, 72 % of all living forest biomass is found in the tropics. Every year, 72 Gt of carbon cycle through tropical forests and savannahs, representing 59 % of terrestrial gross primary productivity (the total influx of C from the atmosphere to plants per unit time) (Beer et al. 2010).

Per unit area, intact tropical forests hold more carbon than forests in temperate or boreal zones, 282 t C/ha on average (Pan et al. 2011). Considering the carbon in only living biomass, these forests store 2.7–3.5 times more carbon per hectare than temperate and boreal forests: 164 t C/ha in tropical forests vs. 61 t C/ha and 47 t C/ha in temperate and boreal forests, respectively (Pan et al. 2011) (Figure 3). Within, the tropics, forest biomass density is generally greatest in Southeast Asia, followed by Latin America, and Africa (Baccini et al. 2012, Saatchi et al. 2011). Tropical wetlands have even higher carbon densities: on average mangroves and peatlands store over 1,000 (Donato et al. 2011) and 2,000 t C / ha , respectively (Page, Rieley, and Banks 2011).

Since the 1990s, most deforestation and nearly all *net* forest loss occurs within the tropics (Hansen et al. 2013). Tropical forests also have the lowest proportion of cleared forests that are regrowing (Hansen et al. 2013). Thus, nearly all net emissions from land use change are from tropical regions (Pan et al. 2011). From 2000 to 2012, over 1.1 million km² of tropical forests were lost (Hansen et al. 2013). Annual net emissions from tropical deforestation over a similar time period (1999–2007) were 2.9 Gt C/year (Pan et al. 2011). Net emissions from FOLU in the tropics dominate global FOLU emissions because forests regrowth mostly compensates for emissions outside of the tropics, whereas deforestation greatly outpaces regrowth within the tropics (Houghton et al. 2012, Hansen et al. 2013). These dynamics are shaped by the different drivers of deforestation: most deforestation in the tropics is driven by land use change (i.e., conversion to agriculture; Hosonuma et al. 2012), where forests are more permanently lost. Conversely, forest loss outside the tropics is dominated by timber harvest and wildfires, after which forests regenerate (Hansen et al. 2013).

Beyond carbon, tropical forests are also home to over half of the world's known species (Terborgh 1992), and provide other locally and globally significant ecosystem services. Combined with their large role in the carbon cycle, these factors make tropical forest conservation a particularly attractive possibility for reducing carbon dioxide emissions and slowing global climate change, while potentially providing biological, environmental, and even social benefits (Phelps, Friess, and Webb 2012).



Figure 3. Map of biomass density (above- and belowground) in living vegetation across the globe. Tropical forests have the highest carbon density. Credit: Valerio Avitabile (Wageningen University).

3.2 Mature forests continue to sequester carbon

Multiple studies of the global carbon cycle conclude that terrestrial ecosystems serve as a net carbon sink (Le Quere et al. 2009, Pan et al. 2011), and a large part of this is owed to sequestration in mature tropical forests (Lewis, Lopez-Gonzalez, et al. 2009, Pan et al. 2011). As a silver lining to anthropogenic carbon emissions, the high concentrations of CO₂ in the atmosphere are thought to be increasing tree growth rates and biomass in some forests, which is referred to as 'CO₂ fertilization' (Lewis, Lloyd, et al. 2009, Norby and Zak 2011). Possibly as a result of this fertilization and other causes, mature tropical forests appear to be capturing over 1 Gt C each year, accounting for nearly half of the 2.3 Gt/year net terrestrial carbon sink in intact forests from 2000–2007 (Pan et al. 2011). Biomass and carbon stocks in mature, intact forests surveyed in Amazonia and Africa increased by 0.3 % per ha per year from 1987-1996 (Lewis, Lopez-Gonzalez, et al. 2009), though extrapolating these results to the continental scale remains somewhat controversial. Including tropical Asian forests, the tropical forest carbon sink has been estimated to total 1.2–1.3 Gt C each year (Lewis et al. 2009, Pan et al. 2011). To put this in perspective, a 0.3% increase in the biomass of mature forests in the Amazon alone absorbs about as much as all the entire fossil-fuel emissions in Western Europe each year (Phillips and Lewis 2014). On a global scale, mature tropical forests are believed to have been sequestering 14-17 % of all fossil fuel emissions from 2000-2011.

3.3 Significance of wetland forests

Wetlands —including peatlands, mangroves, swamps, and bogs— cover a relatively small area but store extremely high amounts of carbon per unit area. In contrast to upland tropical forests that hold most of their carbon stored in living biomass, wetlands store huge amounts of carbon in dead plant materials belowground (Figure 4). Globally, peatlands cover only 3 % of the land area but store roughly 350–550 Gt of carbon, approximately 20–25 % of all carbon stocks in soil organic matter (summarized in Smith et al. 2014). In the tropics, peatlands store 82–92 Gt C in just 441 thousand km² (Page, Rieley, and Banks 2011). This equates to over 2,000 t of carbon per hectare, an order of magnitude higher than carbon densities in upland, *terra firme* forests. Likewise, tropical mangroves cover approximately 138 thousand km² (Giri et al. 2011) along coastlines and are estimated to store an average of 1,023 t C/ha (Donato et al. 2011). These wetland forests are also small carbon sinks and provide a number of important ecosystem services (Smith et al. 2014), which are summarized in Brandon (2014).



Figure 4. The contribution of different carbon pools in two forest ecosystems: mean carbon densities in Amazonian *terra firme* forests (data from Malhi et al. 2009) and Indonesian peat forests —aboveground data from Kronseder et al. (2012) and peat data from Jaenicke et al. (2008).

4. How do land use and land use changes affect carbon and other greenhouse gas emissions?

4.1 Deforestation and land use change

Deforestation occurs when a forest is completely cleared of trees and converted to another land use and the forest is not expected to regrow naturally and the emissions are owed to 'land use change'. Forests are cleared for commercial agriculture, subsistence farming, mining, infrastructure building, and urban development. Emissions from deforestation are determined by the product of the area cleared and average carbon density (i.e., t C/ ha) within that area, usually assuming that all carbon in biomass is lost during deforestation. All the carbon in biomass is 'committed' to being released, though it may take place slowly if the vegetation is left to decay or rapidly if burnt, as is the case for most land use conversion in the tropics. The decomposition and combustion of dead plant materials and soil organic matter also release other greenhouse gases, especially nitrous oxide and methane (Smith et al. 2014). Due to the high carbon densities in wetlands, deforestation of these lands is particularly destructive. Draining peatlands increases aeration and therefore decomposition rates in these soils, leading to high CO₂, emissions over time. It also leaves them more vulnerable to fire, which releases yet more greenhouse gasses (Smith et al. 2014). Emission from draining and burning tropical peatlands is estimated around 0.3 Gt C per year (summarized by van der Werf et al. 2009, Houghton 2013). Despite covering a relatively small area, deforestation rates in mangroves are extremely high, resulting in emissions up to 0.12 Gt C each year (Donato et al 2011).

4.2 What land uses are replacing forests, and what are the implications for emissions?

Carbon is not only emitted when forests are cut and burned or left to decay, but subsequent land uses often result in further greenhouse gas emissions. Once forest is cleared (land use change), land management activities (land use and agriculture) cause GHG emissions, such as tilling soil, applying fertilizers, draining peatland, and using fire to clear vegetation.

Since the majority of deforestation is driven by agriculture — primarily industrial cattle ranching, soybean farming, and palm oil plantations for international markets in South America and Southeast Asia (Figure 7)— (Hosonuma et al. 2012), the land is subject to tillage and fertilizer applications. As is the case for draining peatlands, tilling increases aeration of mineral soil, thereby accelerating decomposition of soil organic matter and increasing the likelihood of erosion. The nitrogen fertilizer applied to crops can undergo chemical transformations in the soil and be lost to the atmosphere as nitrous oxide (N₂O). In this way, food production may be responsible for 80 % of the rise of nitrous oxide in the atmosphere (Ciais et al. 2013). Methane is second largest GHG in CO₂eq, and unlike the carbon cycle, the global methane cycle is dominated by humans (~50 %) (Ciais et al. 2013). Ruminant livestock, such as cattle, and rice paddies are responsible for vast quantities of methane emissions.

Biofuel crops can in theory save GHG emissions if they are used to replace fossil fuels and the average carbon stock of the biofuel crop is higher than the carbon stock of the land use system they are replacing. However, the production of biofuel crops also emits GHGs from nitrogen fertilizers, diesel fuel, and – most importantly– direct land use change. The direct conversion of native forests, woodlands, wetlands, or grasslands to biomass cropping systems usually results in net GHG emissions, rather than savings, because the native ecosystems they replace are very carbon-rich (summarized in Smith et al. 2014). Oil palm plantations to produce palm oil-based biodiesel, for example, can take 170–300 years to become carbon-neutral if the plantations replace peatlands (Wicke et al. 2008). On the other hand, palm oil plantations can become carbon neutral within 8–16 years when planted on previously-cleared mineral soils (Wicke et al. 2008). Plantation forestry is emerging as a driver of intact forest losses (Hansen et al. 2013): over half (54 %) of forest plantations are found in Asia and the Pacific, but they have also risen in Latin America and Africa (Blaser et al. 2011).

Subsistence agriculture is responsible for 27–40 % of deforestation in the tropics and is second only to industrial agriculture with respect to area of deforestation (Hosonuma et al. 2012). Farmers in these systems are less likely to apply fertilizers and more likely to fallow land as part of a shifting cultivation cycle. Thus, carbon stocks can temporarily increase as forests regenerate in abandoned agricultural lands, but croplands and pastures themselves have very little biomass (Figure 5).

Mining and urban expansion account for small proportions of total deforestation, but can be particularly devastating. Forests will never grow back after urbanization and may be nearly as impeded after mining. Gold mining, for example, is increasing in the western Amazon, causing deforestation, severe soil disturbance and degradation, and mercury contamination (Asner et al. 2013). Surface mining removes all vegetation and topsoil, leaving the remaining soil severely degraded —compacted; devoid of nutrients, organic matter, and microbes; and often acidic with high levels of toxins (Sheoran, Sheoran, and Poonia 2010). Thus, huge quantities of carbon and other greenhouse gases are released (Jaramillo et al. 2007) and forest regrowth is severely impeded, even with serious afforestation or reclamation efforts (Huttl and Weber 2001, Sheoran et al. 2010).

Box 2, FAQ 1. Why can't we just cut down mature forests and plant fast-growing tree species, so that they can more actively sequester carbon?

When mature forests are cut, a lot of carbon is released quickly, or even immediately when burnt. In contrast, tree plantations accumulate carbon in biomass over time (Box 4, Figure 5) and may never reach the carbon stocks of mature forests if they are cut on short rotations. Because plantation forests are destined to be harvested, the carbon accumulated in these trees is far less permanent than in primary forests under conservation and only a small share of carbon ends up in long-lived wood products (see Box 3, FAQ 5).

Approximately 7% of all tropical forests are planted, most of which are intensive fastrotation plantation systems (FAO 2010), and plantation forestry is a leading driver of intact forest loss (Hansen et al. 2013). Numerous studies demonstrate why converting natural forests to plantations is not a good idea for the climate. For example, converting natural forests to plantations has resulted in net carbon losses (Yang et al. 2007) and reduces soil carbon (Guo and Gifford 2002). In Indonesia, experts give strong warnings against focusing on expanding plantations rather than reducing deforestation and peatland degradation: meeting emissions targets would require a land area double the size of the entire country (Verchot et al. 2010). Of course, the carbon balance of converting native forests to plantations depends on the forests being replaced, but the carbon benefits also rely on the survival and growth of the planted trees, which may be very low (Cao et al. 2011). Fertilizers may also be applied to achieve fast growth rates, which can result in more powerful GHG (N₂O) emissions.

Though growth in forest plantation rates are generally fast during the first few decades of stand development (Ryan, Binkley, and Fownes 1997), new research is showing that large trees in mature forests continue to sequester substantial amounts of carbon (Stephenson et al. 2014). Individually, large trees grow faster than small trees: in a meta-analysis, trees with 100 cm diameters accumulated 103 kg biomass/year on average (3 times higher than the average growth rate of trees with half their diameter and the equivalent of adding a new tree each year), and the largest trees can accumulate over 600 kg biomass each year (Stephenson et al. 2014).

Biodiversity and ecosystem services are also compromised by converting native forests to plantations, which may have implications for carbon fluxes and climate change. Furthermore, plantations, which have very low biodiversity compared to native forests, may be less resilient to climate change than primary forests (Thompson et al. 2009). In terms of biodiversity, forest structure, and conservation value, primary forests are simply irreplaceable (Barlow et al. 2007, Gibson et al. 2011, Chazdon 2008).

4.3 Degradation

Forest degradation, in carbon terms, refers to the removal of carbon in forests remaining as forests, which are expected to regrow naturally. Thus, the carbon emissions come from 'land use and forestry', but there is no land use *change*. Examples include selective logging, fuelwood collection, charcoal production, fires, repeated fire escaping from nearby cleared land, and livestock grazing under trees (Figure 5). As is the case with deforestation, all the carbon in dead biomass is 'committed' to being released, though this generally decays slowly over time unless fire burns the dead materials. In the Amazon, emissions from selective logging can continue for decades after a timber harvest (Huang and Asner 2010). Only a small fraction of the carbon extracted during timber harvests ends up in long-lived wood products (see Box 3, FAQ 5).

In the tropics, timber extraction and logging is the responsible for just over half of forest degradation (52 %), followed by fuelwood collection and charcoal production (31%), uncontrolled fire (9 %), and livestock grazing (7 %) (Hosonuma et al. 2012). Like the drivers of deforestation, drivers of degradation vary by continent: Selective logging is the main driver of degradation in South America and Asia (> 70 %), but fuelwood collection is the most important driver in Africa (Hosonuma et al. 2012; Figure 7). Though total forest cover has declined in the tropics, forest area designated for production has increased from 2005 to 2010 —at the expense of protected natural forests— in Latin America and Asia (Blaser et al. 2011). Uncontrolled fires can also be important and are most common in Latin America (16 %) (Hosonuma et al. 2012). On average, livestock grazing contributes less than other sources of degradation, but accounts for 9 % in Africa (Figure 7).

Forest degradation is much more difficult to detect remotely and to quantify than deforestation. Forests remain forests, but their carbon stocks (Bunker et al. 2005) and ecosystem services (Foley et al. 2007) are reduced. The extent to which they are reduced varies greatly. Degradation is responsible for approximately 12–16 % of carbon emissions from tropical forests (Huang and Asner 2010, Houghton 2013, Pearson et al. 2014), but a majority of these emissions may be 'offset' by forest regrowth (Figure 11.8; Smith et al. 2014).

An alternative perspective is that managing forests for both timber and non-timber forest products offers an economic alternative to clearing the land entirely and is one of the most successful tools for resisting deforestation (Griscom and Cortez 2013). Despite the reductions in carbon, biodiversity, and ecosystem services (compared to primary forests), degraded forests still provide many benefits of forests. Compared to other disturbances, selective logging had the lowest detrimental effects on biodiversity (Gibson et al. 2011). In theory, forests can be managed sustainably, by reducing forest degradation and even enhancing forest stocks, though the practicalities of this are still lacking in the tropics. In the meantime, practicing reduced impact logging techniques is a step in the right direction – reducing many of the negative environmental impacts and carbon emissions while maintaining timber supply (Putz et al. 2008, Putz et al. 2012).

4.4 Why is fire significant?

In tropical rainforests, fires are almost always started by humans, by both disturbances and ignition (Bush et al. 2008). Opening or removing the canopy allows light to penetrate and dry vegetation past a point of flammability, whether that is intentional or not. Fire is used as a tool to clear forests initially and to maintain pastures from woody encroachment. Unfortunately, fires often escape from their intended area and burn out of control in natural forests. They are a serious and imminent threat to tropical forests, are more frequent during droughts associated with El Niño events, and thus may increase with climate change (Bush et al. 2008). Fires degrade the forests and reduce carbon stocks in aboveground vegetation. Intense fires can even burn the soil, which both releases carbon and can sterilize the top layer (i.e., kill all microbes), thus altering carbon and nutrient cycling (Certini 2005).

Burning trees and other plants not only releases CO₂ into the atmosphere, but also more potent greenhouse gases, such as CH₄, N₂O, ozone-precursors, and aerosols such as black carbon (Ciais et al. 2013). When biomass is burned, but the combustion is not complete, fine particles of black carbon (soot) are released into the atmosphere. Though it is not a gas, its ability to warm the atmosphere is enormous: by weight, these particles can absorb a million times more energy than CO₂ (US EPA 2012). Globally, open biomass burning, including wildfires, is the largest single source of black carbon emissions, 35.5 % (Lamarque et al. 2010, US EPA 2012). Fortunately, black carbon is short-lived in the atmosphere, which also means that reductions in black carbon emissions will give more immediate climate benefits (Carmichael et al. 2013).

In total, fire emissions from deforestation and degradation in the tropics are estimated at 1.4 Gt CO₂eq per year, though the carbon emitted from fire is already included in deforestation and degradation accounting (Smith et al. 2014). Non-CO₂ emissions from deforestation, forest management and degradation, and peatland fires totaled roughly 0.3 Gt CO₂eq in 2010 (FAOSTAT 2013, Smith et al. 2014).

4.5 Forest regrowth

Forest regrowth is a general term for the growth of both pre-existing forests and new forests. New forests in previously cleared lands can begin via natural regeneration (from a residual seed bank and new seeds dispersed by the wind, water, and animals) or be

actively planted by humans. Reforestation refers to planting trees in an area that was once forest, afforestation refers to planting trees in areas that were not previously forested, and their carbon fluxes are included in the 'land use change' category. Existing forests are always growing and recovering from disturbances. This is usually a natural process, but regrowth and forest dynamics can be altered by management activities, such as enrichment planting of desired species and removing vines from future crop trees.

Forest regrowth 'offsets' much of the carbon emitted by land use and land use change because trees sequester carbon from the atmosphere as they regenerate after being cleared and regrow after less severe disturbances and degradation. Net emissions from FOLU in the forestry sector are therefore calculated as gross emissions from deforestation and degradation minus the carbon sequestered from forest regrowth. In the tropics, forest regrowth (forests regenerating after deforestation and recovering from selective logging) captured 1.2–1.7 Gt carbon of per year in the 1990s and 2000s (Houghton 2013, Pan et al. 2011). This reduces net emissions from land use change to around half of the gross emissions from deforestation. The implications of gross vs. net emissions are discussed further in section 6.2.

However, it should be noted that secondary forests and forests subjected to intensive or repeated selective logging are not the same as intact, primary forests (see Box 2 for more details). Secondary forests have much lower biomass than primary forests (Pan et al. 2011), and degraded forests may take over one (Huang and Asner 2010) or even two (Riswan, Kenworthy, and Kartawinata 1985) centuries to recover lost biomass. The ability of forests to regenerate and regrow, and the rates of this growth, are dependent on the type and severity of disturbance, ecosystem dynamics, climate, species, and human interventions (Box 4).



Figure 5. Conceptual diagram showing the effect of different human induced disturbances, land uses, and forest management on forest carbon stocks.

5. Relative significance of forest-based emissions in total emissions

5.1 How significant are emissions from tropical deforestation and degradation?

Net emissions from Forestry and Other Land Use (FOLU) in the tropics dominate the global FOLU emissions. Net emissions from FOLU made up 11 % of total GHG emissions (in CO₂ equivalents) in 2010, which is predominately from tropical deforestation and forest degradation and is slightly less than emissions from transportation (14 %) (Edenhofer et al. 2014). The vast majority of FOLU greenhouse gas fluxes are carbon itself —from deforestation, degradation, soil, regrowth, and afforestation— and FOLU carbon emissions account for approximately 11–15 % of all CO₂ emissions in 2010 and 12–16 % in the 2000s (Table 1) (Edenhofer et al. 2014, Pan et al. 2011, Houghton 2013). Non-CO₂ emissions are smaller and arise mostly from fires and peatland degradation (Ciais et al. 2013).

Net emissions from FOLU are proportionally lower in the most recent IPCC report than in past IPCC reports, reflecting both a slight decline in forest-based emissions over the past decade and, more significantly, a huge increase in fossil fuel and industrial emissions (Figure 6A). Circa 1970, over half of all cumulative CO₂ emissions to the atmosphere had come from FOLU, following the expansion of agriculture in the 19th and 20th centuries. However, over the last 65 years, GHG emissions have soared from all sectors (especially energy supply, industry, and transport), while emissions from FOLU have remained fairly steady and perhaps even decreased very recently. Thus, circa 2010, cumulative emissions from fossil fuel, cement, and flaring have emitted nearly two times more CO₂ than forestry and other land use, and the relative contribution of FOLU to cumulative emissions has been reduced (Ciais et al. 2013) (Figure 1). Net emissions, however, may be misleading (see section 5.3 and Figure 6B).

Finally, records show that tropical forests can release globally significant quantities of carbon into the atmosphere. Year to year fluctuations and anomalies seen in the annual atmospheric CO_2 accumulation may be primarily driven by fluxes in tropical forests. Large spikes in atmospheric CO_2 concentrations correspond to El Niño events (Baker et al. 2006), demonstrating how tropical forests influence the global carbon cycle — drought reduces net CO_2 uptake in trees, mortality from severe drought releases carbon over time, and fire releases carbon immediately. Thus, the carbon sink is reduced and carbon sources increase.

5.2 How have the rates of tropical deforestation and forest degradation and associated emissions changed over the past 30 years?

Deforestation and forest degradation rates and trends have changed in the last several decades. Prior to the 1930s, emissions from FOLU were greater in the northern latitudes but have been dominated by deforestation in the tropics since 1960 (Houghton 2013). Since 1990, nearly all net FOLU emissions are from the tropics (Houghton 2013). Though deforestation and degradation still exist outside the tropics, forest regrowth nearly neutralizes net carbon emissions there (Houghton 2013). Gross tropical deforestation rates have been estimated at 8 million ha/year on average during the 1990s and 7.6 million ha/year from 2000-2010 (Achard et al. 2014) but rose steadily within this century (Hansen et al. 2013). Emissions from deforestation were greatest in the 1980s (rising from about 1 to over 1.6 Gt C /year), declined rapidly during the 1990s and early 2000s, and returned to just over 1 Gt C/year by 2010 (Houghton 2013). Net carbon emissions from net FOLU over the last three decades have been estimated at 1.4 Gt C/year in the 1980s, 1.5 Gt/year in the 1990s, and 1.1 Gt/year in the 2000s (Ciais et al. 2013), thus accounting for 19, 20, and 12 % of total anthropogenic carbon emissions in each of the three decades, respectively (Figure 6A). Over the same time periods, the residual land sink has removed 22, 32, and 29 % of total anthropogenic carbon emissions from the atmosphere.

5.3 Gross vs. net emissions and sinks

Net land use change emissions may be misleading, as it combine two separate and larger fluxes: gross emissions from deforestation and sequestration via forest regrowth. Gross emissions from tropical deforestation and degradation were estimated at an average of 2.6–2.8 Gt C/ year from 2000–2007 (Pan et al. 2011) or 1990–2010 (Houghton 2013), which would account for over a quarter of total anthropogenic carbon emissions from gross deforestation, fossil fuels, and cement in the 2000s (Figure 6B; Table 1). However, regrowing tropical forests captured 1.7 Pg C/ year (Pan et al. 2011), bringing the net LULUCF flux down to < 40 % of the gross LULUCF flux. If the two fluxes (sources and sinks) are separated, forest regrowth reduces net FOLU emissions by 46-61 % in the tropics. Sequestration in intact forests is not included in the FOLU flux, but when the sinks in regrowing and in intact forests are combined together and compared against gross emissions, tropical forests sequestered 30-35 % of total C emissions in the 2000s (Table 1), and the global land sink removed approximately 38 % of anthropogenic carbon emissions in the 2000s (Figure 6B). Finally, the difference between gross deforestation emissions (2.6–2.8 Gt C/ year) and the total land sink (-4 Gt C/ year) shows the enormous potential of the forestry sector to both reduce emissions and enhance sequestration worldwide (more than 6.5 Gt C/ year). This potential is estimated at 4.8-5.6 Gt C/year in tropical forests alone from 2000 to 2007. If deforestation had been halted and regrowth allowed to continue at its current rate, tropical forests would have removed 30-35 % of anthropogenic C emissions during the 1990s and 2000s and 25–30 % of emissions in 2010 (Table 1). The entire terrestrial sink would have removed over half of all carbon emissions in the 2000s (Figure 6B).

The Pan et al. (2011) flux estimates are consistent with those reported in the IPCC AR5 Working Group 1 chapter on the carbon cycle (see Figure 2). However, other pantropical analyses have determined similar net emissions from FOLU, but lower gross fluxes. Two independent studies using new applications of remote sensing techniques estimated that gross and net tropical deforestation emitted approximately 0.8 Gt C / year from 2000–2005 (Harris et al. 2012) and 2000–2010 (Baccini et al. 2012). Adding emissions from degradation, shifting cultivation, and soils brought net emissions to 1.0– 1.1 Gt C/year from tropical FOLU (Baccini et al. 2012, Houghton 2013), and including draining and burning peatlands brings net emissions estimates to 1.4 Gt C/ year from 1990–2010 (Houghton 2013). However, these studies show lower gross fluxes, especially sequestration in regrowing forests than Pan et al. (2011). Gross emissions were estimated at 2.3 Gt C/ year (Baccini et al. 2012) or 2.6 Gt C/ year including draining and burning peatlands (Houghton 2013). Both studies estimated that regrowth removed only 1.2 Gt C / year in tropical forests (Baccini et al. 2012, Houghton 2013). Using these figures, the potential for total potential for tropical forests to mitigate climate change is lower but still very large, more than 4.5 Gt C/ year (including carbon absorbed in intact forests). Though there is still uncertainty in global estimates, many independent studies show that tropical forests play a large and important role in the global carbon cycle.





Table 1. Summary of emissions and sequestration in tropical forests estimated by three different studies, three global carbon emissions scenarios —as reported in the IPCC AR5, an alternative way of calculating global emissions (using gross tropical FOLU emissions or excluding sequestration from regrowth and two theoretical scenarios), and one hypothetical scenario of no tropical FOLU emissions—, and four estimates of the role of tropical forest emissions and sequestration in the global carbon cycle.

		Sequestr	ation in tro	pical	Emissi	Global carbon emissions			is scenarios			
Source	Time	forests	forests from FOLU Reported in IPCC Mature Total AR5		in IPCC	Including gross FOLU emissions		If no FOLU emissions				
Source	period	Regrowth	forests	sink	Gross	Net	2010*	2000s	2010	2000s	2010	2000s
Pan et al. (2011)	1990-2007	1.6	1.2	2.8	2.9	1.3	10.2	9.9	11.8	11.5	8.9	8.6
Pan et al. (2011)	2000-2007	1.7	1.0	2.7	2.8	1.1	10.2	8.9	11.9	10.6	9.1	7.8
Houghton (2013)	1990-2010	1.2	1.0**	2.2	2.6	1.4	10.2	8.9	11.4	10.1	8.8	7.5
Baccini et al. (2012)	2000-2010	1.2	1.0**	2.2	2.3	1.0***	10.2	9.9	11.4	11.1	9.2	8.9

		Role or potential role of tropic	Role or potential role of tropical forests in global carbon cycle					
Source	Time period	Removed by tropical forest sink (2000s)	Emissions from net FOLU		Emissio gross F	ons from OLU	Sequestered if no FOLU emissions	
Pan et al. (2011)	1990-2007	25%	13%	13%	25%	25%	32%	33%
Pan et al. (2011)	2000-2007	26%	11%	12%	24%	27%	30%	35%
Houghton (2013)	1990-2010	22%	14%	16%	23%	26%	25%	30%
Baccini et al. (2012)	2000-2010	20%	10%	10%	20%	21%	24%	25%

*Carbon estimated as (11% + 65%) × (49 Gt CO₂-eq emissions in 2010) × (1 t C / 3.66 t CO₂), where 11% and 65% are the CO₂ contributions of FOLU and Fossil fuel and industrial processes, respectively

**Using the Pan et al. (2011) estimate for the sink in intact tropical forests from 2000-2007 as a conservative estimate

***Reported as 1.0 in Baccini et al. (2012) but as 1.1 in Houghton (2013)

5.4 Changes between the 4th and 5th IPCC Assessment Reports and since Since the IPCC's Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) (Denman et al. 2007), more data and better modeling have improved flux estimates from FOLU (Ciais et al. 2013). Namely, there have been updates to country statistics on land use changes (FAO 2010) and new forest inventory data to estimate biomass carbon gained in forest regrowth, though data remains limited in the tropics (Pan et al., 2011). Thus, land use change flux estimates are considered to be more robust (e.g., Houghton et al. 2012), and the uncertainty associated with these flux estimates has been reduced to roughly half that reported in the AR4 (Ciais et al. 2013). Since the Fifth Assessment Report (AR5), several remote sensing studies have independently evaluated forest biomass changes, which we have included in this paper.

Most studies agree that carbon emissions from FOLU (mostly deforestation) have been declining in the past decades. However, new analyses (published since data used in the AR5) suggest that tropical deforestation may be higher than previously estimated and increasing again (Hansen et al. 2013).

Box 3. Frequently asked questions

FAQ 2. If the most recent IPCC report (AR5) says that the percentage of total emissions from forests has gone down since the last assessment report, doesn't that mean that we're solving the problem?

Unfortunately, we are far from solving the problem of climate change or deforestation. The proportion of emissions from FOLU has decreased since the last IPCC report primarily because emissions from all other sectors, especially energy, have skyrocketed. Nonetheless, the IPCC found a decline in deforestation rates and increase in afforestation, thereby reducing FOLU emissions, and projected that this trend may continue (Edenhofer et al. 2014). However, even if rates of deforestation were declining in the 2000s relative to previous decades, huge amounts of irreplaceable primary tropical forests have been lost (deforestation) and marginalized (degradation) each year. It is also important to note that when we remove forests, it not only releases carbon but also removes their ability to safely sequester carbon from the atmosphere, which is a necessary component in achieving long-term climate goals. Indeed, vegetation is one of, if not the only, safe place for carbon sequestration. CO₂ absorbed by the oceans causes dangerous acidification and carbon capture and storage technologies are thus far still experimental. Furthermore, an update since the Fifth Assessment Report suggests that rates deforestation may be rising again (Hansen et al. 2013). FAQ 3. Aren't forest-based emissions different and less problematic than emissions from fossil fuels because forests grow back, while oil wells don't?

Isn't the regrowth of forests in places like China cancelling out deforestation elsewhere?

Though, these two questions are different, they will be answered in tandem. First, it is important to note that any carbon dioxide in the atmosphere is the same molecule and has the same greenhouse effect as every other CO2 molecule in the atmosphere, whether it came burning fossil fuels or forests. Thus, no CO2 emissions are any less problematic than any other. Forests do have the potential to regrow after disturbances, but they will be different from primary forests and may never recover their original structure or diversity of life. In terms of carbon, there are different ways to look at this problem. One perspective is to deduct the carbon captured during forest regrowth from the emissions from deforestation each year to estimate net emissions from land use change. This method may reflect cycles of shifting agriculture, for example, where there land is cleared of forest, cultivated for a period, and then left fallow (Figure 5). However, the majority of deforestation is caused by large scale land conversion, such as ranching in the eastern and southern portions of the Brazilian Amazon Basin and palm oil plantations in Indonesia, and forest regrowth is usually not linked to this land clearing. Thus, large-scale reforestation efforts, as have been undertaken by China in the past decade, are not offsetting CO₂ from tropical deforestation per se. Rather, carbon sequestration in intact and regenerating forests are removing CO₂ from the atmosphere as a whole, which reduces the rate of CO_2 accumulation in the atmosphere in general as opposed to specifically 'offsetting' emissions from deforestation and land use change.

Two more important lessons can be learned from China's afforestation program. First, it demonstrates the global significance that policy-driven actions can make removing CO₂ from the atmosphere. From the 1990s to the 2000s, China's carbon sink in biomass was reported to almost double as a result of their national reforestation/afforestation program (Pan et al. 2011). Secondly, for afforestation to be an effective climate change mitigation strategy, the trees must survive and thrive. Unfortunately, recent research indicates that afforestation efforts in China may have had low survival rates because they were not adapted to local conditions (Cao et al. 2011).

FAQ 4. Isn't carbon stored in forests less "permanent" than carbon stored in other ways?

It is true that carbon stored in forests (vegetation and soils) is not permanently stored, but most emissions reductions are not. Not using fossil fuels, for example, only avoids emissions so long as they are not used. Few mitigation actives are considered permanent (that is, once the emissions are avoided, they cannot be re-emitted). From the forestry sector, substituting biofuels in place of fossil fuels and wood products in place of more energy-intensive materials are considered permanent or irreversible (Smith et al. 2014). Unlike fossil fuels, however, the carbon in trees and soil has the additional threat of being released via climate change itself and associated natural events (i.e., mortality or reduced growth from drought, pests, or fire). Fortunately, because forests have the ability to regrow, any loss of carbon stocks may also be only temporary. Despite this threat of 'non-permanence' or 'reversibility', it is important to reduce emissions immediately —from forestry, agriculture, energy production, and all other sectors.

FAQ 5. How significant is the carbon "locked up" in furniture, paper, and other forest products?

The role of carbon 'locked-up' in long-lived wood products (> 100 years), such as furniture and buildings, is small. From 1900 to 2008, only 0.035-0.091 Gt C has been stored in this way each year, totaling 6.9 Gt C in over a century (Lauk et al. 2012) – less than 4% of the total emissions from land use change since the industrial revolution. Though this is not a negligible amount in total, locking carbon in wood products has very limited potential in terms of climate change mitigation (Lauk et al. 2012). Conversely, the primary benefit in terms of reducing GHG emissions can be gained from using wood products instead of energy-intensive materials such as concrete, steel, and aluminum (Sathre and O'Connor 2010).

Unfortunately, harvesting wood is a fairly inefficient process, and wood harvested in tropical countries has the lowest proportion that ends up in long-lived wood products (Earles, Yeh, and Skog 2012). Carbon is lost from the forest during the timber harvest and extraction and when the wood is processed. First, when a tree is felled, it damages and kills surrounding trees as it falls ('collateral damage'). Second, large portions of the harvested tree are left in the forests: 'crop tree residuals' include the branches, stump, buttresses, and any unusable portions of the trunk, such as hollow or rotten sections. Third, skidding the commercial trunk to the road is often performed with large tractors that plow over small trees in its path and disturb the soil. Once the commercial roundwood is extracted from the forest, over half of the original roundwood is lost as it is sawn into lumber (Abebe and Holm 2003). Finally, 2–6 times more wood ends up in landfills each year than in long-lived wood products (Lauk et al. 2012, Pan et al. 2011). Thus, of the 3.4 billion cubic meters of wood removed in 2005 (FAO 2010), only about 0.064 Gt C would end up in long-lived forest products on average, but several orders of magnitude more carbon is emitted during the process. This represents only 2 % of the average annual carbon emissions from tropical deforestation (2.82 Gt C; Pan et al. 2011).

6. Current and projected rates of emissions from deforestation and degradation

6.1 Current rates and hot spots for deforestation and forest-based emissions

Deforestation in the tropics is the main source of global FOLU emissions. Though rates of tropical deforestation are lower than past decades, they are still high and global forest cover is still decreasing. From 2000 to 2012, 1.1 million km² of tropical forest was lost, compared to only 0.25 million km² of new forest regrowth (Hansen et al. 2013). On average, 92 thousand km² of tropical forests are lost each year with a net loss of 77 thousand km² lost each year. Global hotspots for deforestation remain in South America, especially in Brazil's 'arc of deforestation' along the southern border of the Amazon, and in Southeast Asia, especially Indonesia (Figure 7). Within the tropics, by far the highest levels of deforestation occur in Brazil and Indonesia, followed by China, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Malaysia, Argentina, Paraguay, and Bolivia (Hansen et al. 2013). Many other smaller and less forested countries, such as Benin, Cote d'Ivoire, Ghana, Uganda, Uruguay, Zimbabwe, and Zambia, show alarmingly high rates of forest lost relative to forests remaining (Hansen et al. 2013).

Many studies have documented a reduction in rates of deforestation over the past 10–15 years, but this trend may be reversing. Since the most recent IPCC reports (2013 and 2014), new research has found that rates of tropical deforestation are higher than previously estimated and actually increasing by 2101 km²/ year in the tropics (Hansen et al. 2013). From 2000 to 2012, the rates of deforestation in Brazil reduced by 1,318 km²/year on average (with a high of >40,000 km²/ year in 2004 to a low of < 20,000 km²/ year in 2011), while rates in other tropical regions increased by over twice this amount (Hansen et al. 2013). Within Brazil's Legal Amazon, deforestation is reported to have reduced to less than 5,000 km²/ year in 2012 (INPE-PROJETO PRODES 2014). Deforestation in other countries rose by 2,731 km²/ year, 64 % in Eurasian tropical forests, 20 % in African tropical moist forests, and 17 % South American dry forests. Deforestation rates in Indonesia climbed by 1021 km²/ year and reached a maximum

during the last year of the study: over 20,000 km² of forest were cleared from 2011 to 2012. Deforestation rates also increased in Malaysia, Paraguay, Bolivia, Zambia, and Angola (Hansen et al. 2013). Over half of all peatlands drained were in Asia (Smith et al. 2014), and mangrove ecosystems have been reduced by 20 % since 1980 (FAO 2007).

Degradation is also a significant source of gross emissions and affects large land areas. In contrast to the clear deforestation hotspots, forest degradation both less easy to detect and perhaps more pervasive. Figure 7 shows that much of the central Amazon is nearly undisturbed, but low levels of emissions occur throughout African woodlands. These patterns are aligned with the drivers of degradation in these continents. Industrial logging, the primary driver in Latin America and Asia, will occur where access is better near forest frontiers, whereas fuelwood collection and livestock grazing in Africa can degrade forests at a much lower level over a larger scale. Many countries in the Congo Basin and elsewhere in Africa (e.g., Democratic Republic of Congo, Angola, Zambia, and Mozambique) have high forest cover and are relatively undeveloped (Hosonuma et al. 2012), but are threatened by internal drivers of deforestation and logging, especially if new roads and other transportation infrastructure are built as planned (Mosnier et al. 2014).



Figure 7. Annual tropical forest-based emissions (2000–2005) —data adapted from Harris et al. (2012) by Valerio Avitabile (Wageningen University). Bar charts show the relative importance of different drivers of deforestation and forest degradation in each continent (data from Hosonuma et al. 2012).

6.2 Projected rates of deforestation

Future deforestation rates are of course unknown, but the forest transition model is often used to give insight into common trends. The forest transition model describes the stereotypical forest cover changes associated with a country's development over time. Initially, countries have high forest cover (pre-transition). Deforestation rates are then high during the early and late-transition periods as land is cleared primarily for agriculture. Finally, there is a slight recovery in forest cover as less productive agricultural lands are abandoned (allowing for regeneration and succession to proceed) and land is actively replanted in the post-transition phase (Köthke et al. 2013). The majority of tropical and sub-tropical countries are in the 'early' or 'late transition' phases of the Forest Transition model, in which rapid deforestation occurs but rates decrease over time (Hosonuma et al. 2012). This may explain why deforestation rates have decreased slightly but remain high. Further, it suggests that rates will remain high in the near future. Agribusiness —especially producing soybeans, cattle, and palm oil for international markets- has been the leading driver of deforestation in South America and Asia (Figure 7). Commercial agriculture is the most prevalent driver of deforestation in the early transition phase and is an increasingly important driver of deforestation in recent times (Hosonuma et al. 2012). Thus far, deforestation in Africa is still dominated by subsistence farming, but this could change and increase rates of deforestation in the future. Many countries with the highest forest cover in the Congo Basin and western Amazon are still in the pre- and early-transition stages, indicating that large tracts of intact forest could be lost in the coming decades as globalization and industrial agriculture move into these areas (Hosonuma et al. 2012). Urban population growth is also expected in many tropical countries, which will also likely increase pressure on the surrounding forests (DeFries et al. 2010). Conversely, a small number tropical and sub-tropical countries are in the post-transition phase, where forest cover may be expected to increase, such as Chile, China, Costa Rica, India, Philippines, Rwanda, Uruguay, and Vietnam (Hosonuma et al. 2012).

Forest degradation dynamics also change with Forest Transition phases. In the late-transition phase, the importance of commercial logging decreases as timber resources are depleted while fuelwood collection and fires increase. The reverse occurs post-transition: economic development decreases the demand for fuelwood, commercial logging regains importance, and better forest management reduces the prevalence of fires (Hosonuma et al. 2012).

Policies, public awareness, and global economics will have a large impact on the future trends in deforestation. For example, policies in Brazil drove nearly a decade of decline in deforestation rates (Hansen et al. 2013), and a higher awareness of the value of mangroves may have led to the reduced destruction of these ecosystems recently (FAO 2007). Unfortunately, policies can also go the other way. A new policy in Brazil for example may reverse the long-running trend of reduced deforestation in Brazil: Deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon increased by 28 % from 2012 to 2013 (INPE-PROJETO PRODES 2014) perhaps because of a new Forest Code approved in 2012. On an international scale, globalization and further trade liberalization may increase tropical deforestation, GHG emissions, and other environmental degradation (Schmitz et al. 2012).

7. Implications for action

7.1 To what extent is reducing forest-based emissions essential for preventing climate change?

Forests play a huge role in the global carbon cycle and offer large, cost-effective, and immediate options for climate change mitigation. Indeed, they are already a large part of climate change mitigation. Reducing deforestation and other forest-based emissions play a vital role in avoiding catastrophic climate change, though we also need to severely reduce other sources of CO2, methane, nitrous oxide, and black carbon, as well. The IPCC asserts that forestry activities will be an important and cost-effective component in a global effort to mitigate climate change (Smith et al. 2014). Likewise, the Stern Review: The Economics of Climate Change recognizes that curbing deforestation is one of the key elements of climate change mitigation (Stern 2006). Three mitigation options in the forestry sector include: (i) reducing or preventing emissions (i.e., reducing/avoiding deforestation, practicing reduced impact logging and sustainable forest management), (ii) sequestration (e.g, reforestation, afforestation, and soil management), and (iii) reducing fossil fuels emissions by substituting biofuels and energy-intense materials for wood products. At high carbon prices (\$US 100/ t CO_2eq), the forestry sector alone is estimated to contribute up to 13.8 Gt CO_2eq each year of economically viable mitigation (Smith et al. 2014). Reducing deforestation is very costeffective and much less expensive than other means of reducing greenhouse gas emissions (Stern 2006). The economics of climate change mitigation options will be discussed in more detail in later papers, but it is important to note that forestry-related mitigation activities are far less sensitive to the price of carbon than many other sectors (Smith et al. 2014).

It is also important to recall the basic facts about forests and their role in the global carbon cycle. Tropical forests currently hold approximately 1470 Gt of carbon in living and decaying biomass and soils, which is nearly twice what has accumulated in the atmosphere since the industrial revolution (240 Gt C). This highlights both the importance of keeping this carbon stored in the forests and the catastrophic potential of these forests to release carbon if they are completely destroyed. Moreover, mature tropical forests sequester at least 1Gt of C/ year, on average. If the opposing FOLU fluxes are considered separately -regrowth in recovering forests (1.2-1.7 Gt C/year sequestered) and gross deforestation (2.6-2.8 Gt C/year emitted)- tropical forests (including sequestration in intact forests) removed 22-26 % of total annual anthropogenic emissions in the 2000s (Table 1; Pan et al. 2011, Houghton 2013). If deforestation were stopped entirely, tropical forests would remove 25-35 % of all carbon emissions from fossil fuels and cement production, and the entire land sink would remove over half of anthropogenic emissions (Figure 6B). Finally, the absolute difference between forest emissions and sinks (4.8-5.6 Gt C/year in tropical forests (Table 1, Figure 6B) shows the potential of the forestry sector to both reduce emissions and enhance sequestration. This was reinforced in a recent study showing that stopping tropical deforestation and degradation, protecting regrowing forests, and reforesting lands not currently in use has the potential to sequester 3-5 Gt C/year from the atmosphere (Houghton 2013).

Forest-related climate mitigation activities not only improve the global C cycle, but can have other climate benefits as well as a number of non-climate co-benefits, such as conservation of biodiversity, water cycling and availability, increased food security, and promoting sustainable growth in developing countries. Reforestation and afforestation, for example, would not only sequester CO_2 but have the additional climate benefits of increasing evapotranspiration and cloud cover (Bala et al. 2007).

Box 4. FAQ 6. What is the relative effectiveness of protecting existing forests versus planting trees? How long does it take for a natural forest to be restored to the same level of carbon richness?

One of the main differences between the mitigation potential of protecting existing forests compared to planting new forests is the timeline upon which they offer climate benefits: avoiding deforestation immediately avoids GHG emissions, whereas regrowing trees sequester carbon over time (Figure 5).

Doing very simple calculations, it will take 35 to > 130 years, on average, to restore carbon stocks in aboveground living biomass to 132 t/hat with constant growth rates of 1 to 3.8 t C/ ha/ year (Pan et al. 2011). Using IPCC Tier 1 factors (i.e., default values when no national or regional data is available), shows that aboveground biomass stocks can recover in anywhere between 40 and 231 years for natural forests and plantations can recover carbon stocks in aboveground living biomass in 13 to 56 years[‡] (Table 2). However, these are very rough estimates and say nothing about other carbon pools, such as soil, roots, litter, or woody debris. Furthermore, the growth rates are likely to be overestimates, and the years to recovery therefore too low, if they are based on the first few decades of growth only. Recall that it can take over 100 years for mature forests to recover from selective logging (Huang and Asner 2010). Nonetheless, these results shed some light on forest growth dynamics. For example, the number of years to accumulate original carbon stocks in trees varies by continent, climate, and species. The values reported in Table 2 are averages among a range of outcomes: the actual rates and level of recovery will depend on many factors, such as the type and severity of disturbance, level of soil degradation, the seed source, climate, and other ecosystem and landscape dynamics, and human interventions.

Forest plantations grow markedly faster than natural regeneration but are also fundamentally different from natural forests. Growth rates are faster for a number of reasons: the inherent growth rates of species are important, but human interventions —such as planting, weed control, fertilizer application— also accelerate the rates and success of tree establishment, survival, and growth. However, most plantations are destined to be cut, so although the carbon gains are faster, the sequestration is only temporary (though the process can begin again if replanted; Figure 5). Secondly, the biodiversity and ecosystem services do not match those of native forests (See Box 2).

All new forest growth (be it natural regeneration, re/afforestation, or plantations)

plays a vital role in restoring forest cover and sequestering carbon from the atmosphere on currently under-stocked or completely un-stocked land that was previously forested. Planted forest can also provide valuable wood products and protect natural forests from degradation and deforestation. In Nigeria, for example, eucalyptus is planted on land severely degraded by mining to provide fuelwood to the local population (Wimbush 1963).

Forest type	Moist	Wet			
Length dry season	Long	Short			
Continent	Natural r	regeneratio	on (years)		
Africa	141	143	86		
America	231	96	153		
Asia & Oceania - Continental	127	70	127		
Asia & Oceania - Insular	90	40	82		
	Plantations* (years)				
Africa	21-31	13-30	15-41		
America	18-42	18-36	54-56		
Asia	19-39	35-36	14-19		

Table 2. The average number of years for aboveground carbon stocks in live trees to reach those in intact tropical forests in each continent. See methods in footnote[‡].

*Plantation species reported:

Africa: Eucalyptus, Pinus, others Americas: Eucalyptus, Pinus, Tectona, others Asia: Eucalyptus others

†Methods: Mean C density in live biomass was estimated at 163.9 t/ha in intact tropical forests (282.5 t C/ha in all C pools × total stock of 228.2 Gt C in live biomass / total stock of 393.3 t C in all forest carbon pools) (Pan et al. 2011). Using the IPCC root/shoot-ratio of 0.24 for primary tropical moist forests, aboveground carbon stocks in living biomass was estimated at 132.2 t C/ha (IPCC 2003). Wet forests are defined as having a dry season of \leq 3 dry months/year, and moist forests have 3–5 dry months/year.

[‡] Methods: By the same methods as above, mean C density in aboveground living biomass was estimated at 125.0, 131.7, and 136.8 t C/ha in African, SE Asian, and American intact tropical forests, respectively. Average annual increment of natural regeneration and forest plantations were taken from Table 3A.1.5 and 3A.1.6 IPCC (2003), and biomass was converted to carbon using the conversion factor of 0.47 (IPCC 2006).

7.2 To what extent are emission reductions from forests time-sensitive? The IPCC recommends aiming for an atmospheric concentration of 450 ppm CO₂eq by 2100 for a likely chance of limiting the mean global temperature rise to 2 °C (3.6 °F) over pre-industrial mean temperature. This would require large and immediate reductions in GHG emissions by changing energy systems and land use (Edenhofer et al. 2014). Because we are likely to overshoot atmospheric concentration of 450 ppm CO₂eq, plants will be necessary to ultimately reduce CO₂ from the atmosphere (e.g., afforestation and bio-energy with carbon capture and storage). An advantage of re/afforestation to remove CO₂ from the atmosphere is that trees are not experimental and the technical capacity to plant and maintain trees is immediately available (unlike carbon dioxide removal or carbon capture and storage technologies) (Ciais et al. 2013).

Action on multiple fronts is needed immediately in order to achieve 2 °C temperature targets. Delaying action only puts more pressure on drastic changes in the future and lessens our overall chances of avoiding dangerous climatic changes (Edenhofer et al. 2014). The *rate* of climate change is also important, and mitigation also buys us time to adapt (Edenhofer et al. 2014). Many FOLU mitigation strategies can and should be implemented immediately, such as reducing deforestation, increasing afforestation efforts, and improving fire management.

In general, CO_2 emissions reductions from AFOLU play a relatively large role in total CO_2 emissions in the short term (i.e., until 2030) and reduce in importance over the long-term (Smith et al. 2014). The IPCC warns that forest and land use mitigation options today may not be available in the future, and the ability of forests to serve as a sink, not a source, of CO_2 depends on climate change itself, as well as other environmental stresses and disturbances (Edenhofer et al. 2014) (see Box 5). We should, therefore, utilize this natural resource and enhance its capacity as a solution for immediate action.

BOX 5. Climate change feedbacks

FAQ 7. What is the expected impact of climate change itself on emissions from tropical forests?

Ecosystem models predict that climate change will have an overall negative effect on tropical forests and their carbon balance, but more recent models predict that the threat of large-scale forest dieback is not as high as previously estimated. Fortunately, tropical forests may be more resilient to climatic changes than previously thought, and the risks of some dieback are moderate in South America and less in Africa and Asia (Huntingford et al. 2013).

Nonetheless, forests are threatened by climate change, and models consistently predict a positive feedback between the carbon cycle and climate (Le Quéré et al. 2013, Cox et al. 2013, Davidson et al. 2012), where 'positive' means self-perpetuating. Forests are currently net carbon sinks because growth and recruitment (new trees) exceed mortality. However, several mechanisms (especially related to climate change) could cause changes in the relative rates of these processes, thereby making tropical forests carbon neutral or net *sources* of carbon (Phillips and Lewis 2014).

It is difficult to predict exactly how forests will respond because key processes, such as disturbances (e.g., fire, logging, pests), ecosystem dynamics, nutrient dynamics, and peatland responses to climate change are all very difficult to understand and model. Rising temperatures increase respiration and may reduce photosynthesis (Lloyd and Farquhar 2008). Higher atmospheric CO_2 concentrations have thus far stimulated tree growth, but other nutrients and resources are expected to become limiting (Lewis et al. 2004). Precipitation patterns are expected to change as the climate changes, and moisture stress is likely to increase across the tropics (Tsonis et al. 2005). Tropical forests are sensitive to moisture stress, as seen during the 2005 (Phillips et al. 2009) and 2010 (Lewis et al. 2011) Amazonian droughts, where increased mortality and reduced growth caused these forests to be a net source of CO₂. Drought also increases forests' vulnerability to fire (Nepstad et al. 2004). Several studies show that Amazonian forests are fairly resilient to moderate droughts, but the combined effects of deforestation, fire, and drought are likely to alter precipitation cycles and eventually reduce carbon stocks (Davidson et al. 2012). Increased severity and frequency of droughts are also likely to cause large GHG emissions from peatlands (Fenner and Freeman 2011). Methane emissions from wetlands, especially in the tropics, are projected to increase in response to elevated temperatures and CO2 concentrations (van

Groenigen et al. 2011).

The future of forest carbon fluxes is therefore uncertain. Fortunately, most models predict that forests will continue to be net carbon sinks, though they will store less and less as temperatures rise (Ciais et al. 2013). Indeed, the tropical carbon sink already appears to be shrinking (Pan et al. 2011). It is important to note that FOLU activities themselves may also have a role in the risk of forest dieback by altering both global and local climatic conditions: deforestation itself has many climate-vegetation feedbacks —e.g., altering albedo, surface temperatures, soil moisture, evapotransipration, cloud formation, and water and nutrient cycles (Strengers et al. 2010)— that may leave forests more vulnerable to dieback (Davidson et al. 2012). The southern Amazon, which has experienced high levels of deforestation and land use change, is already showing changes in water and carbon cycles (Davidson et al. 2012),

7.3 Priority geographies for action

The greatest mitigation potential from forests varies by region, and interventions should be planned accordingly, linking drivers of deforestation and degradation in each location to forestry and land use policies and interventions. Within the tropics, the economic mitigation potential of forestry is largest in Latin America, followed by Asia and Africa. In both Latin America and Africa, the mitigation potential of the forestry sector is larger than all other AFOLU activities combined. Within forestry, reducing deforestation has the greatest potential in Latin America and Africa, whereas improving forest management has a larger potential to reduce emissions than arresting deforestation in Asia and outside the tropics. Forests in many countries in the Congo Basin and Central Africa are relatively pristine but may be on the brink of rapid destruction, meaning that a timely and comprehensive REDD+ program could spare these forests from large-scale deforestation and degradation (Mosnier et al. 2014). In Indonesia, halting drainage and burning of peatlands has the greatest potential to reduce emissions (Verchot et al. 2010). The relative contribution of re/afforestation is more equal across all three tropical continents (Smith et al. 2014).

For effective climate change mitigation, we need a *coordinated* and *comprehensive* land-mitigation policy among regions and forestry activities. Staggered policies and implementation could lead to leakage, thereby lessening the intended reductions in deforestation and C emissions (Rose and Sohngen 2011, Calvin et al. 2009, Murray 2008). REDD+ has a great potential to be such a comprehensive land-management and climate change mitigation

strategy —focusing on Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation (REDD); and the '+' includes conservation of forest carbon stocks, sustainable forest management, and enhancement of forest carbon stocks. REDD+ is a large-scale climate change mitigation mechanism with key initiatives from the United Nations (UN-REDD Programme) and the World Bank (Forest Carbon Partnership Facility (FCPF) and Forest Investment Program (FIP)).

Many countries are already engaging in REDD+, and it is important to keep this momentum going. Encouragingly, most countries in Latin America, Southeast Asia, and highly forested areas in Africa have chosen to participate in REDD+ (Figure 8). Of the 43 countries, 10 have driver-specific interventions, while the remaining 33 have interventions without linkage to specific drivers (Salvini et al. in press). More support is likely needed to increase the capacity of many of these countries to develop, implement, and monitor effective REDD+ interventions, and to maintain safeguards against perverse social and environmental outcomes.



Figure 8. Level of REDD+ engagement by country. REDD+ engagement is determined by national engagement in international REDD+ initiatives (UN-REDD, FCPF, GEF, GCF), engagement at the sub-national level through project development (number of projects), and funding acquisition (Climate Funds Update). Levels of engagement in some initiatives (UN-REDD, FCPF) were taken into account and more weighting given to those countries that have progressed further through the process. Credit: Sarah Carter (CIFOR, Wageningen University).

8. Conclusions and recommendations

Forests and climate change are intrinsically linked. Forests loom large in the terrestrial carbon cycle, and they can and should be utilized as part of the solution for immediate climate change mitigation action. Tropical forests have the highest carbon densities in the world but are also subjected to the highest deforestation rates, thereby accounting for almost all net emissions from land use, land use change, and forestry. Tropical forests store more than double the amount of carbon than all the anthropogenic carbon emissions that have accumulated in the atmosphere thus far. Moreover, these forests sequester 2.2–2.7 Gt of carbon each year in mature forests, forests regenerating after deforestation, and forest regrowth after logging (Pan et al. 2011, Houghton 2013), thereby removing 22–26 % of total annual anthropogenic carbon emissions from the atmosphere since the 1990s. REDD+ activities —curbing tropical deforestation and degradation, protecting regrowing forests, and actively planting trees (reforestation and afforestation)— have the potential to reduce emissions and increase sequestration from the atmosphere by up to 5 Gt of carbon each year (Houghton 2013), over half of annual anthropogenic carbon emissions.

Compared to other mitigation strategies, reducing emissions from tropical deforestation and degradation is a cost-effective option and the most viable strategy in the land sector. Reducing CO_2 emissions from forestry plays a relatively large role in total CO_2 emissions in the short term and buys us time to develop other, more long-term mitigation and adaptation strategies. Unlike carbon dioxide removal technologies, trees (planted or left undisturbed) can *and already do* remove carbon from the atmosphere naturally. Likewise, forests and the rest of the terrestrial land sink are the only safe reservoir for excess CO_2 , unlike the atmosphere where it causes warming and the oceans where it causes acidification. Unfortunately, these forests —and their vital role in the carbon cycle and climate change mitigation— are threatened by climate change itself and could become a net source of CO_2 if climate change continues unabated (Box 5).

The time to act is now, and we need coordinated and comprehensive action. The majority of tropical countries with high forest cover are already engaging in REDD+, and it is important to keep the process moving forward. The drastic reduction in deforestation in Brazil, as well as the rise in afforestation in China, demonstrate how forest-related policies, land planning, and public awareness can have a significant impact on forest cover and the global carbon cycle.

For effective climate change mitigation, it is vitally important to link drivers of deforestation and degradation in each location to REDD+ interventions and forestry and land use policies. REDD+ safeguards must also be considered to account for perverse social, economic, and environmental outcomes. By addressing the underlying drivers of deforestation and forest degradation, REDD+ can help achieve immediate climate change mitigation, as well as a number of social, economic, and environmental benefits by improving land management and maintaining tropical forests.

References

- Abebe, T., and S. Holm. 2003. "Estimation of wood residues from small-scale commercial selective logging and sawmilling in tropical rain forests of south-western Ethiopia." *International Forestry Review* no. 5 (1):45-52. doi: 10.1505/ifor.5.1.45.17436.
- Achard, Frédéric, René Beuchle, Philippe Mayaux, Hans-Jürgen Stibig, Catherine Bodart, Andreas Brink, Silvia Carboni, Baudouin Desclée, François Donnay, Hugh D. Eva, Andrea Lupi, Rastislav Raši, Roman Seliger, and Dario Simonetti. 2014. "Determination of tropical deforestation rates and related carbon losses from 1990 to 2010." *Global Change Biology*:n/a-n/a. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12605.
- Asner, Gregory P., William Llactayo, Raul Tupayachi, and Ernesto Raez Luna. 2013. "Elevated rates of gold mining in the Amazon revealed through high-resolution monitoring." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* no. 110 (46):18454-18459. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1318271110.
- Baccini, A., S. J. Goetz, W. S. Walker, N. T. Laporte, M. Sun, D. Sulla-Menashe, J. Hackler, P. S. A. Beck, R. Dubayah, M. A. Friedl, S. Samanta, and R. A. Houghton. 2012.
 "Estimated carbon dioxide emissions from tropical deforestation improved by carbon-density maps." *Nature Climate Change* no. 2 (3):182-185. doi: Doi 10.1038/Nclimate1354.
- Baker, D. F., R. M. Law, K. R. Gurney, P. Rayner, P. Peylin, A. S. Denning, P. Bousquet, L. Bruhwiler, Y. H. Chen, P. Ciais, I. Y. Fung, M. Heimann, J. John, T. Maki, S. Maksyutov, K. Masarie, M. Prather, B. Pak, S. Taguchi, and Z. Zhu. 2006. "TransCom 3 inversion intercomparison: Impact of transport model errors on the interannual variability of regional CO2 fluxes, 1988-2003." *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* no. 20 (1). doi: 10.1029/2004gb002439.
- Bala, G., K. Caldeira, M. Wickett, T. J. Phillips, D. B. Lobell, C. Delire, and A. Mirin. 2007. "Combined climate and carbon-cycle effects of large-scale deforestation." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* no. 104 (16):6550-6555. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0608998104.
- Barlow, J., T. A. Gardner, I. S. Araujo, T. C. Avila-Pires, A. B. Bonaldo, J. E. Costa, M. C. Esposito, L. V. Ferreira, J. Hawes, M. M. Hernandez, M. S. Hoogmoed, R. N. Leite, N. F. Lo-Man-Hung, J. R. Malcolm, M. B. Martins, L. A. M. Mestre, R. Miranda-Santos, A. L. Nunes-Gutjahr, W. L. Overal, L. Parry, S. L. Peters, M. A. Ribeiro-Junior, M. N. F. da Silva, C. da Silva Motta, and C. A. Peres. 2007. "Quantifying the biodiversity value of tropical primary, secondary, and plantation forests." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* no. 104 (47):18555-18560. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0703333104.
- Beer, Christian, Markus Reichstein, Enrico Tomelleri, Philippe Ciais, Martin Jung, Nuno Carvalhais, Christian Roedenbeck, M. Altaf Arain, Dennis Baldocchi, Gordon B. Bonan, Alberte Bondeau, Alessandro Cescatti, Gitta Lasslop, Anders Lindroth, Mark Lomas, Sebastiaan Luyssaert, Hank Margolis, Keith W. Oleson, Olivier Roupsard, Elmar Veenendaal, Nicolas Viovy, Christopher Williams, F. Ian Woodward, and Dario Papale. 2010. "Terrestrial Gross Carbon Dioxide Uptake: Global Distribution and Covariation with Climate." *Science* no. 329 (5993):834-838. doi: 10.1126/science.1184984.
- Blaser, J., A. Sarre, D. Poore, and S. Johnson. 2011. Status of Tropical Forest Management 2011. In *ITTO Technical Series 38*. Yokohama, Japan: International Tropical Timber Organization.
- Brandon, Katrina. 2014. "Ecosystem Services from Tropical Forests: Review of Current Science," CGD Working Paper 380. Washington DC: Center for Global Development. http://www.cgdev.org/publication/ecosystem-services-tropical-forests-review-currentscience-working-paper-380.

- Bunker, D. E., F. DeClerck, J. C. Bradford, R. K. Colwell, I. Perfecto, O. L. Phillips, M. Sankaran, and S. Naeem. 2005. "Species loss and aboveground carbon storage in a tropical forest." *Science* no. 310 (5750):1029-1031. doi: 10.1126/science.1117682.
- Bush, M. B., M. R. Silman, C. McMichael, and S. Saatchi. 2008. "Fire, climate change and biodiversity in Amazonia: a Late-Holocene perspective." *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* no. 363 (1498):1795-1802. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2007.0014.
- Calvin, Katherine, Pralit Patel, Allen Fawcett, Leon Clarke, Karen Fisher-Vanden, Jae Edmonds, Son H. Kim, Ron Sands, and Marshall Wise. 2009. "The distribution and magnitude of emissions mitigation costs in climate stabilization under less than perfect international cooperation: SGM results." *Energy Economics* no. 31:S187-S197. doi: 10.1016/j.eneco.2009.06.014.
- Cao, Shixiong, Li Chen, David Shankman, Chunmei Wang, Xiongbin Wang, and Hong Zhang. 2011. "Excessive reliance on afforestation in China's arid and semi-arid regions: Lessons in ecological restoration." *Earth-Science Reviews* no. 104 (4):240-245. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2010.11.002</u>.
- Carmichael, Gregory R., Sarika Kulkarni, Yafang Chen, V. Ramanathan, and Scott Spak. 2013. "Short-Lived Climate Forcing Agents and Their Roles in Climate Change." *Procedia* - Social and Behavioral Sciences no. 77 (0):227-236. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.03.082</u>.
- Certini, Giacomo. 2005. "Effects of fire on properties of forest soils: a review." Oecologia no. 143 (1):1-10. doi: 10.1007/s00442-004-1788-8.
- Chazdon, Robin L. 2008. "Beyond deforestation: Restoring forests and ecosystem services on degraded lands." *Science* no. 320 (5882):1458-1460. doi: 10.1126/science.1155365.
- Ciais, P., C. Sabine, G. Bala, L. Bopp, V. Brovkin, J. Canadell, A. Chhabra, R. DeFries, J. Galloway, M Heimann, C. Jones, C. Le Quéré, R.B. Myneni, S. Piao, and P. Thornton. 2013. Carbon and Other Biogeochemical Cycles. In *Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, edited by T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, G.K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Cox, Peter M., David Pearson, Ben B. Booth, Pierre Friedlingstein, Chris Huntingford, Chris D. Jones, and Catherine M. Luke. 2013. "Sensitivity of tropical carbon to climate change constrained by carbon dioxide variability." *Nature* no. 494 (7437):341-344. doi: 10.1038/nature11882.
- Davidson, Eric A., Alessandro C. de Araujo, Paulo Artaxo, Jennifer K. Balch, I. Foster Brown, Mercedes M. C. Bustamante, Michael T. Coe, Ruth S. DeFries, Michael Keller, Marcos Longo, J. William Munger, Wilfrid Schroeder, Britaldo S. Soares-Filho, Carlos M. Souza, and Steven C. Wofsy. 2012. "The Amazon basin in transition." *Nature* no. 481 (7381):321-328.
- DeFries, Ruth S., Thomas Rudel, Maria Uriarte, and Matthew Hansen. 2010. "Deforestation driven by urban population growth and agricultural trade in the twenty-first century." *Nature Geoscience* no. 3 (3):178-181. doi: 10.1038/ngeo756.
- Denman, K. L., G. Brasseur, A. Chidthaisong, P. Ciais, P.M. Cox, R. E. Dickinson, D. Hauglustaine, C. Heinze, E. Holland, D. Jacob, U. Lohmann, S. Ramachandran, P. L. da Silva Dias, S. C. Wofsy, and X. Zhang. 2007. Couplings between changes in the climate system and biogeochemistry. In *Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis, Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, edited by S. Solomon, D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K. B. Averyt, M. Tignor and H. L. Miller. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.

- Donato, Daniel C., J. Boone Kauffman, Daniel Murdiyarso, Sofyan Kurnianto, Melanie Stidham, and Markku Kanninen. 2011. "Mangroves among the most carbon-rich forests in the tropics." *Nature Geoscience* no. 4 (5):293-297. doi: 10.1038/ngeo1123.
- Earles, J. Mason, Sonia Yeh, and Kenneth E. Skog. 2012. "Timing of carbon emissions from global forest clearance." *Nature Climate Change* no. 2 (9):682-685. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1535.
- Edenhofer, O., R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, and et. al. 2014. Summary for Policymakers. In Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- FAO. 2007. The world's mangroves 1980-2005. In *FAO Forestry Paper 153*. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- FAO. 2010. *Global Forest Resources Assessment 2010*. In FAO Forestry Paper 163. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- FAOSTAT. 2013. FAOSTAT database, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Available at: <u>http://faostat.fao.org/</u>.
- Fenner, Nathalie, and Chris Freeman. 2011. "Drought-induced carbon loss in peatlands." *Nature Geoscience* no. 4 (12):895-900. doi: 10.1038/ngeo1323.
- Field, C. B., Barros V.R., M.D. Mastrandrea, and et al. 2014. Summary for Policymakers. In Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Foley, Jonathan A., Gregory P. Asner, Marcos Heil Costa, Michael T. Coe, Ruth DeFries, Holly K. Gibbs, Erica A. Howard, Sarah Olson, Jonathan Patz, Navin Ramankutty, and Peter Snyder. 2007. "Amazonia revealed: forest degradation and loss of ecosystem goods and services in the Amazon Basin." *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* no. 5 (1):25-32. doi: 10.1890/1540-9295(2007)5[25:arfdal]2.0.co;2.
- Gibson, Luke, Tien Ming Lee, Lian Pin Koh, Barry W. Brook, Toby A. Gardner, Jos Barlow, Carlos A. Peres, Corey J. A. Bradshaw, William F. Laurance, Thomas E. Lovejoy, and Navjot S. Sodhi. 2011. "Primary forests are irreplaceable for sustaining tropical biodiversity." *Nature* no. 478 (7369):378-+. doi: 10.1038/nature10425.
- Giri, C., E. Ochieng, L. L. Tieszen, Z. Zhu, A. Singh, T. Loveland, J. Masek, and N. Duke. 2011. "Status and distribution of mangrove forests of the world using earth observation satellite data." *Global Ecology and Biogeography* no. 20 (1):154-159. doi: 10.1111/j.1466-8238.2010.00584.x.
- Goldewijk, K. K. 2001. "Estimating global land use change over the past 300 years: The HYDE Database." *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* no. 15 (2):417-433. doi: 10.1029/1999gb001232.
- Griscom, Bronson W., and Rane Cortez. 2013. "The case for improved forest management (IFM) as a priority REDD plus strategy in the tropics." *Tropical Conservation Science* no. 6 (3):409-425.
- Guo, L. B., and R. M. Gifford. 2002. "Soil carbon stocks and land use change: a meta analysis." *Global Change Biology* no. 8 (4):345-360. doi: 10.1046/j.1354-1013.2002.00486.x.
- Hansen, M. C., P. V. Potapov, R. Moore, M. Hancher, S. A. Turubanova, A. Tyukavina, D. Thau, S. V. Stehman, S. J. Goetz, T. R. Loveland, A. Kommareddy, A. Egorov, L. Chini, C. O. Justice, and J. R. G. Townshend. 2013. "High-Resolution Global Maps of 21st-Century Forest Cover Change." *Science* no. 342 (6160):850-853. doi: 10.1126/science.1244693.
- Harris, Nancy L., Sandra Brown, Stephen C. Hagen, Sassan S. Saatchi, Silvia Petrova,
 William Salas, Matthew C. Hansen, Peter V. Potapov, and Alexander Lotsch. 2012.
 "Baseline Map of Carbon Emissions from Deforestation in Tropical Regions." *Science* no. 336 (6088):1573-1576. doi: 10.1126/science.1217962.

- Hooke, R., J. Martín-Duque, and J. Pedraza. 2012. "Land transformation by humans: A review." *GSA Today* no. 22 (12):1-10.
- Hosonuma, Noriko, Martin Herold, Veronique De Sy, Ruth S. De Fries, Maria Brockhaus, Louis Verchot, Arild Angelsen, and Erika Romijn. 2012. "An assessment of deforestation and forest degradation drivers in developing countries." *Environmental Research Letters* no. 7 (4). doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/7/4/044009.
- Houghton, R. A. 2007. "Balancing the global carbon budget." *Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences* no. 35:313-347. doi: 10.1146/annurev.earth.35.031306.140057.
- Houghton, R. A., J. I. House, J. Pongratz, G. R. van der Werf, R. S. DeFries, M. C. Hansen, C. Le Quere, and N. Ramankutty. 2012. "Carbon emissions from land use and landcover change." *Biogeosciences* no. 9 (12):5125-5142. doi: 10.5194/bg-9-5125-2012.
- Houghton, Richard A. 2013. "The emissions of carbon from deforestation and degradation in the tropics: past trends and future potential." *Carbon Management* no. 4 (5):539-546. doi: 10.4155/cmt.13.41.
- Huang, Maoyi, and Gregory P. Asner. 2010. "Long-term carbon loss and recovery following selective logging in Amazon forests." *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* no. 24. doi: Gb3028 10.1029/2009gb003727.
- Huntingford, Chris, Przemyslaw Zelazowski, David Galbraith, Lina M. Mercado, Stephen Sitch, Rosie Fisher, Mark Lomas, Anthony P. Walker, Chris D. Jones, Ben B. B. Booth, Yadvinder Malhi, Debbie Hemming, Gillian Kay, Peter Good, Simon L. Lewis, Oliver L. Phillips, Owen K. Atkin, Jon Lloyd, Emanuel Gloor, Joana Zaragoza-Castells, Patrick Meir, Richard Betts, Phil P. Harris, Carlos Nobre, Jose Marengo, and Peter M. Cox. 2013. "Simulated resilience of tropical rainforests to CO2-induced climate change." *Nature Geoscience* no. 6 (4):268-273. doi: 10.1038/ngeo1741.
- Huttl, R. F., and E. Weber. 2001. "Forest ecosystem development in post-mining landscapes: a case study of the Lusatian lignite district." *Naturwissenschaften* no. 88 (8):322-329. doi: 10.1007/s001140100241.
- INPE-PROJETO PRODES. PROJETO PRODES: Monitoramento da Floresta Amazônica Brasileira por Satélite, Available online: <u>http://www.obt.inpe.br/prodes/index.php</u> 2014.
- IPCC. 2003. Good Practice Guidance for Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry. In Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme, edited by Jim Penman, Michael Gytarsky, Taka Hiraishi, Thelma Krug, Dina Kruger, Riitta Pipatti, Leandro Buendia, Kyoko Miwa, Todd Ngara, Kiyoto Tanabe and Fabian Wagner. Hayama, Japan: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme Technical Support Unit
- IPCC. 2006. 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme. edited by H. S. Eggleston, L. Buendia, K. Miwa, T. Ngara and K. Tanabe: IGES.
- Jaenicke, J., J. O. Rieley, C. Mott, P. Kimman, and F. Siegert. 2008. "Determination of the amount of carbon stored in Indonesian peatlands." *Geoderma* no. 147 (3–4):151-158. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2008.08.008.
- Jaramillo, Paulina, W. Michael Griffin, and H. Scott Matthews. 2007. "Comparative Life-Cycle Air Emissions of Coal, Domestic Natural Gas, LNG, and SNG for Electricity Generation." *Environmental Science & Technology* no. 41 (17):6290-6296. doi: 10.1021/es0630310.
- Keeling, C. D. 1960. "The concentration and isotopic abundances of carbon dioxide in the atmosphere." *Tellus* no. 12 (2):200-203.
- Köthke, Margret, Bettina Leischner, and Peter Elsasser. 2013. "Uniform global deforestation patterns An empirical analysis." *Forest Policy and Economics* no. 28:23-37. doi: 10.1016/j.forpol.2013.01.001.
- Kronseder, Karin, Uwe Ballhorn, Viktor Böhm, and Florian Siegert. 2012. "Above ground biomass estimation across forest types at different degradation levels in Central

Kalimantan using LiDAR data." International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation no. 18 (0):37-48. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2012.01.010</u>.

- Lamarque, J. F., T. C. Bond, V. Eyring, C. Granier, A. Heil, Z. Klimont, D. Lee, C. Liousse, A. Mieville, B. Owen, M. G. Schultz, D. Shindell, S. J. Smith, E. Stehfest, J. Van Aardenne, O. R. Cooper, M. Kainuma, N. Mahowald, J. R. McConnell, V. Naik, K. Riahi, and D. P. van Vuuren. 2010. "Historical (1850-2000) gridded anthropogenic and biomass burning emissions of reactive gases and aerosols: methodology and application." *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* no. 10 (15):7017-7039. doi: 10.5194/acp-10-7017-2010.
- Lauk, Christian, Helmut Haberl, Karl-Heinz Erb, Simone Gingrich, and Fridolin Krausmann. 2012. "Global socioeconomic carbon stocks in long-lived products 1900– 2008." Environmental Research Letters no. 7 (3):034023.
- Le Quéré, C., R. J. Andres, T. Boden, T. Conway, R. A. Houghton, J. I. House, G. Marland, G. P. Peters, G. R. van der Werf, A. Ahlström, R. M. Andrew, L. Bopp, J. G. Canadell, P. Ciais, S. C. Doney, C. Enright, P. Friedlingstein, C. Huntingford, A. K. Jain, C. Jourdain, E. Kato, R. F. Keeling, K. Klein Goldewijk, S. Levis, P. Levy, M. Lomas, B. Poulter, M. R. Raupach, J. Schwinger, S. Sitch, B. D. Stocker, N. Viovy, S. Zaehle, and N. Zeng. 2013. "The global carbon budget 1959–2011." *Earth Syst. Sci. Data* no. 5 (1):165-185. doi: 10.5194/essd-5-165-2013.
- Le Quere, Corinne, Michael R. Raupach, Josep G. Canadell, Gregg Marland, Laurent Bopp, Philippe Ciais, Thomas J. Conway, Scott C. Doney, Richard A. Feely, Pru Foster, Pierre Friedlingstein, Kevin Gurney, Richard A. Houghton, Joanna I. House, Chris Huntingford, Peter E. Levy, Mark R. Lomas, Joseph Majkut, Nicolas Metzl, Jean P. Ometto, Glen P. Peters, I. Colin Prentice, James T. Randerson, Steven W. Running, Jorge L. Sarmiento, Ute Schuster, Stephen Sitch, Taro Takahashi, Nicolas Viovy, Guido R. van der Werf, and F. Ian Woodward. 2009. "Trends in the sources and sinks of carbon dioxide." *Nature Geoscience* no. 2 (12):831-836. doi: 10.1038/ngeo689.
- Lewis, S. L., G. Lopez-Gonzalez, B. Sonke, K. Affum-Baffoe, T. R. Baker, L. O. Ojo, O. L. Phillips, J. M. Reitsma, L. White, J. A. Comiskey, M. N. Djuikouo, C. E. N. Ewango, T. R. Feldpausch, A. C. Hamilton, M. Gloor, T. Hart, A. Hladik, J. Lloyd, J. C. Lovett, J. R. Makana, Y. Malhi, F. M. Mbago, H. J. Ndangalasi, J. Peacock, K. S. H. Peh, D. Sheil, T. Sunderland, M. D. Swaine, J. Taplin, D. Taylor, S. C. Thomas, R. Votere, and H. Woll. 2009. "Increasing carbon storage in intact African tropical forests." *Nature* no. 457 (7232):1003-U3.
- Lewis, S. L., Y. Malhi, and O. L. Phillips. 2004. "Fingerprinting the Impacts of Global Change on Tropical Forests." *Philosophical Transactions: Biological Sciences* no. 359 (1443):437-462.
- Lewis, Simon L., Paulo M. Brando, Oliver L. Phillips, Geertje M. F. van der Heijden, and Daniel Nepstad. 2011. "The 2010 Amazon Drought." *Science* no. 331 (6017):554. doi: 10.1126/science.1200807.
- Lewis, Simon L., Jon Lloyd, Stephen Sitch, Edward T. A. Mitchard, and William F. Laurance. 2009. "Changing Ecology of Tropical Forests: Evidence and Drivers." In *Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics*, 529-549.
- Malhi, Y., Leoc Aragao, D. B. Metcalfe, R. Paiva, C. A. Quesada, S. Almeida, L. Anderson, P. Brando, J. Q. Chambers, A. C. L. da Costa, L. R. Hutyra, P. Oliveira, S. Patino, E. H. Pyle, A. L. Robertson, and L. M. Teixeira. 2009. "Comprehensive assessment of carbon productivity, allocation and storage in three Amazonian forests." *Global Change Biology* no. 15 (5):1255-1274. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01780.x.
- Mosnier, A., P. Havlík, M. Obersteiner, K. Aoki, E. Schmid, S. Fritz, I. McCallum, and S. Leduc. 2014. "Modeling Impact of Development Trajectories and a Global Agreement on Reducing Emissions from Deforestation on Congo Basin Forests by 2030." *Environmental and Resource Economics* no. 57 (4):505-525. doi: 10.1007/s10640-012-9618-7.

- Murray, B.C. 2008. Leakage from an Avoided Deforestation Compensation Policy: Concepts, Empirical Evidence, and Corrective Policy Options. Nicholas Institute for Environmental Policy Solutions, Duke University.
- Nepstad, D., P. Lefebvre, U. L. Da Silva, J. Tomasella, P. Schlesinger, L. Solorzano, P. Moutinho, D. Ray, and J. G. Benito. 2004. "Amazon drought and its implications for forest flammability and tree growth: a basin-wide analysis." *Global Change Biology* no. 10 (5):704-717. doi: 10.1111/j.1529-8817.2003.00772.x.
- Norby, Richard J., and Donald R. Zak. 2011. "Ecological Lessons from Free-Air CO2 Enrichment (FACE) Experiments." In *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, Vol 42*, edited by D. J. Futuyma, H. B. Shaffer and D. Simberloff, 181-203.
- Page, Susan E., John O. Rieley, and Christopher J. Banks. 2011. "Global and regional importance of the tropical peatland carbon pool." *Global Change Biology* no. 17 (2):798-818. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02279.x.
- Pan, Y. D., R. A. Birdsey, J. Y. Fang, R. Houghton, P. E. Kauppi, W. A. Kurz, O. L. Phillips, A. Shvidenko, S. L. Lewis, J. G. Canadell, P. Ciais, R. B. Jackson, S. W. Pacala, A. D. McGuire, S. L. Piao, A. Rautiainen, S. Sitch, and D. Hayes. 2011. "A Large and Persistent Carbon Sink in the World's Forests." *Science* no. 333 (6045):988-993. doi: DOI 10.1126/science.1201609.
- Pearson, Timothy R. H., Sandra Brown, and Felipe M. Casarim. 2014. "Carbon emissions from tropical forest degradation caused by logging." *Environmental Research Letters* no. 9 (3). doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/9/3/034017.
- Phelps, J., D. A. Friess, and E. L. Webb. 2012. "Win–win REDD+ approaches belie carbon– biodiversity trade-offs." *Biological Conservation* no. 154 (0):53-60. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2011.12.031</u>.
- Phillips, O. L., Leoc Aragao, S. L. Lewis, J. B. Fisher, J. Lloyd, G. Lopez-Gonzalez, Y. Malhi, A. Monteagudo, J. Peacock, C. A. Quesada, G. van der Heijden, S. Almeida, I. Amaral, L. Arroyo, G. Aymard, T. R. Baker, O. Banki, L. Blanc, D. Bonal, P. Brando, J. Chave, A. C. A. de Oliveira, N. D. Cardozo, C. I. Czimczik, T. R. Feldpausch, M. A. Freitas, E. Gloor, N. Higuchi, E. Jimenez, G. Lloyd, P. Meir, C. Mendoza, A. Morel, D. A. Neill, D. Nepstad, S. Patino, M. C. Penuela, A. Prieto, F. Ramirez, M. Schwarz, J. Silva, M. Silveira, A. S. Thomas, H. ter Steege, J. Stropp, R. Vasquez, P. Zelazowski, E. A. Davila, S. Andelman, A. Andrade, K. J. Chao, T. Erwin, A. Di Fiore, E. Honorio, H. Keeling, T. J. Killeen, W. F. Laurance, A. P. Cruz, N. C. A. Pitman, P. N. Vargas, H. Ramirez-Angulo, A. Rudas, R. Salamao, N. Silva, J. Terborgh, and A. Torres-Lezama. 2009.
 "Drought Sensitivity of the Amazon Rainforest." *Science* no. 323 (5919):1344-1347. doi: 10.1126/science.1164033.
- Phillips, O., and S.L. Lewis. 2014. "Recent changes in tropical forest biomass and dynamics." In *Forests and Global Changed*, edited by D.A. Coomes, D.F.R P. Burslem and W.D. Simonson, 77-108. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge and New York: British Ecological Society.
- Pongratz, J., C. H. Reick, T. Raddatz, and M. Claussen. 2009. "Effects of anthropogenic land cover change on the carbon cycle of the last millennium." *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* no. 23. doi: 10.1029/2009gb003488.
- Putz, F. E., P. Sist, T. Fredericksen, and D. Dykstra. 2008. "Reduced-impact logging: Challenges and opportunities." *Forest Ecology and Management* no. 256 (7):1427-1433. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2008.03.036.
- Putz, Francis E., Pieter A. Zuidema, Timothy Synnott, Marielos Peña-Claros, Michelle A. Pinard, Douglas Sheil, Jerome K. Vanclay, Plinio Sist, Sylvie Gourlet-Fleury, Bronson Griscom, John Palmer, and Roderick Zagt. 2012. "Sustaining conservation values in selectively logged tropical forests: the attained and the attainable." *Conservation Letters* no. 5 (4):296-303. doi: 10.1111/j.1755-263X.2012.00242.x.

- Ramankutty, N., and J. A. Foley. 1999. "Estimating historical changes in global land cover: Croplands from 1700 to 1992." *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* no. 13 (4):997-1027. doi: 10.1029/1999gb900046.
- Riswan, Soedarsono, J. B. Kenworthy, and Kuswata Kartawinata. 1985. "The Estimation of Temporal Processes in Tropical Rain Forest: A Study of Primary Mixed Dipterocarp Forest in Indonesia." *Journal of Tropical Ecology* no. 1 (2):171-182. doi: 10.2307/2559339.
- Rose, Steven K., and Brent Sohngen. 2011. "Global forest carbon sequestration and climate policy design." *Environment and Development Economics* no. 16:429-454. doi: 10.1017/s1355770x11000027.
- Ryan, M. G., D. Binkley, and J. H. Fownes. 1997. "Age-related decline in forest productivity: Pattern and process." In *Advances in Ecological Research, Vol 27*, edited by M. Begon and A. H. Fitter, 213-262.
- Saatchi, S. S., N. L. Harris, S. Brown, M. Lefsky, E. T. A. Mitchard, W. Salas, B. R. Zutta, W. Buermann, S. L. Lewis, S. Hagen, S. Petrova, L. White, M. Silman, and A. Morel. 2011.
 "Benchmark map of forest carbon stocks in tropical regions across three continents." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* no. 108 (24):9899-9904. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1019576108.
- Salvini, G., M. Herold, V. De Sy, G. Kissinger, M. Brockhaus, and M. Skutsch. in press. "How countries link REDD+ interventions to drivers in their readiness plans: implications for monitoring systems." *Environmental Research Letters*.
- Sathre, Roger, and Jennifer O'Connor. 2010. "Meta-analysis of greenhouse gas displacement factors of wood product substitution." *Environmental Science & Policy* no. 13 (2):104-114. doi: 10.1016/j.envsci.2009.12.005.
- Schimel, D., D. Alves, I. Enting, and M. Heimann, et al. 1996. Radiative forcing of climate change. In *Climate Change 1995; The Science of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group I to the Second Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, edited by J.T. Houghton, L.G. Meira Filho, B.A. Callander, N. Harris, A. Kattenberg and K. Maskell. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Schmitz, Christoph, Anne Biewald, Hermann Lotze-Campen, Alexander Popp, Jan Philipp Dietrich, Benjamin Bodirsky, Michael Krause, and Isabelle Weindl. 2012. "Trading more food: Implications for land use, greenhouse gas emissions, and the food system." *Global Environmental Change* no. 22 (1):189-209. doi:

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2011.09.013.

- Sheoran, V., A.S. Sheoran, and P. Poonia. 2010. "Soil Reclamation of Abandoned Mine Land by Revegetation: A Review." *International Journal of Soil, Sediment and Water* no. 3 (2).
- Smith, P., M. Bustamante, H. Ahammad, H. Clark, H. Dong, E.A. Elsiddig, H. Haberl, R. Harper, J. House, M. Jafari, O. Masera, C. Mbow, N.H. Ravindranath, C.W. Rice, C.R. Abad, A. Romanovskaya, F. Sperling, and F.N. Tubiello. 2014. Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use (AFOLU). In *Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.*
- Stephenson, N. L., A. J. Das, R. Condit, S. E. Russo, P. J. Baker, N. G. Beckman, D. A. Coomes, E. R. Lines, W. K. Morris, N. Rueger, E. Alvarez, C. Blundo, S. Bunyavejchewin, G. Chuyong, S. J. Davies, A. Duque, C. N. Ewango, O. Flores, J. F. Franklin, H. R. Grau, Z. Hao, M. E. Harmon, S. P. Hubbell, D. Kenfack, Y. Lin, J. R. Makana, A. Malizia, L. R. Malizia, R. J. Pabst, N. Pongpattananurak, S. H. Su, I. F. Sun, S. Tan, D. Thomas, P. J. van Mantgem, X. Wang, S. K. Wiser, and M. A. Zavala. 2014.
 "Rate of tree carbon accumulation increases continuously with tree size." *Nature* no. 507 (7490):90-+. doi: 10.1038/nature12914.

Stern, N. 2006. Stern Review: The Economics of Climate Change. Cambridge, UK.

Strengers, Bart J., Christoph Mueller, Michiel Schaeffer, Reindert J. Haarsma, Camiel Severijns, Dieter Gerten, Sibyll Schaphoff, Roy van den Houdt, and Rineke Oostenrijk. 2010. "Assessing 20th century climate-vegetation feedbacks of land-use change and natural vegetation dynamics in a fully coupled vegetation-climate model." *International Journal of Climatology* no. 30 (13):2055-2065. doi: 10.1002/joc.2132.

Terborgh, J. . 1992. *Diversity and the Tropical Rainforest*. New York: Scientific American Library. Thompson, I., B. Mackey, S. McNulty, and A. Mosseler. 2009. "Forest Resilience,

- Biodiversity, and Climate Change. A synthesis of the biodiversity/resilience/stability relationship in forest ecosystems." *Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity* no. Technical Series no. 43, 67 pages.
- Tsonis, A. A., J. B. Elsner, A. G. Hunt, and T. H. Jagger. 2005. "Unfolding the relation between global temperature and ENSO." *Geophysical Research Letters* no. 32 (9). doi: 10.1029/2005gl022875.
- UNEP. 2013. "The Emissions Gap Report 2013." United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), Nairobi.
- US EPA. 2014. What is Black Carbon?, 3/30/2012 2012 [cited 06/06/2014 2014]. Available from http://www.epa.gov/blackcarbon/basic.html.
- van der Werf, G. R., D. C. Morton, R. S. DeFries, L. Giglio, J. T. Randerson, G. J. Collatz, and P. S. Kasibhatla. 2009. "Estimates of fire emissions from an active deforestation region in the southern Amazon based on satellite data and biogeochemical modelling." *Biogeosciences* no. 6 (2):235-249.
- van Groenigen, Kees Jan, Craig W. Osenberg, and Bruce A. Hungate. 2011. "Increased soil emissions of potent greenhouse gases under increased atmospheric CO2." *Nature* no. 475 (7355):214-U121. doi: 10.1038/nature10176.
- Verchot, Louis V., Elena Petkova, Krystof Obidzinski, Stibniati Atmadja, Elizabeth L. Yuliani, Ahmad Dermawan, Daniel Murdiyarso, and Salwa Amira. 2010. "Reducing forestry emissions in Indonesia." *CIFOR, Bogor, Indonesia*.
- Wicke, Birka, Veronika Dornburg, Martin Junginger, and Andre Faaij. 2008. "Different palm oil production systems for energy purposes and their greenhouse gas implications." *Biomass & Bioenergy* no. 32 (12):1322-1337. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2008.04.001.
- Wimbush, S. H. 1963. "Afforestation of restored tin-mining land in Nigeria." *The Commonwealth Forestry Review* no. 42 (3 (113)):255-262. doi: 10.2307/42603051.
- Wunder, Sven. 2001. "Poverty Alleviation and Tropical Forests—What Scope for Synergies?" World Development no. 29 (11):1817-1833. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0305-750X(01)00070-5</u>.
- Yang, Yu-Sheng, Guang-Shui Chen, Jian-Fen Guo, Jin-Sheng Xie, and Xiao-Guo Wang. 2007. "Soil respiration and carbon balance in a subtropical native forest and two managed plantations." *Plant Ecology* no. 193 (1):71-84. doi: 10.1007/s11258-006-9249-6.